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INTRODUCTION

In its review of gambling and its connection with organized
crime, it was necessary for the President's Commission on
Organized Crime to confront two basic problems: first, the
previous governmental inquiries into this connection, which
resulted in contradictory facts and conclusions; and second, the

vast expansion of the legal gaming industry in recent years.

Created by Fxecutive Order 12435 of July 28, 1983, the

President's Commission on Organized Crime is mandated to

make a full and complete natioanl and region-by-region
analysis of organized crime; define the nature of
traditional organized crime as well as emerging organized
crime groups, the sources and amounts of organized crime's
income, and the uses to which organized crime puts its
income; develop indepth information on the participants in
organized crime networks, and evaluate Federal Taws
pertinent to the effort to combat organized crime. The
Commission shall advise the President and the Attorney
General with respect to its findings and actions which can
be undertaken to improve law enforcement efforts directed
against organized crime, and make recommendations concerning
appropriate administrative and legislative improvements in
the administration of justice.

Hundreds of billions of dollars are wagered each year by
Americans, legally and illegally, and a substantial part of this
money ultimately becomes profit earned by traditional and other
organized crime groups. Thus, the Commission was required, in a
lengthy investigation culminating in a public hearing, to
determine the extent to which organized crime is able to
infiltrate and profit from legal gambling, and how law
enforcement policies should be changed to accommodate the

widespread acceptance of gambling while more effectively denying



organized crime groups the profits they have traditionally earned

from illegal gambling.

Gambling is as old as our nation's history, and the
incestuous relationship between illegal activities and gambling
has existed for almost as long. Periodically every form of
commercial gambling has been infected by corruption, attesting to
the unique attraction between organized crime groups and
gambling's financial promise. Horse racing, casino operations,
professional sports, state run lotteries - legal gambling of all
kinds has been infiltrated in some form, at some time or other,
by organized crime. Not only the traditional organized crime
groups, but also numerous emerging groups, participate in the

lTucrative il1legal gambling market.

During a three-day public hearing, the Commission called
thirty-six witnesses and presented numerous exhibits, On the
first day, the Commission heard testimoney on illegal gambling
prosecutions in Chicago, and on Federal gambiing law enforcement

policy.

On the second day of the hearing, the Commisssion heard
testimony from two senior police officers regarding their
anti-gambling enforcement operations in large jurisdictions.
The Commission also heard testimoney on various forms of
organized criminal involvement or corruption in such areas as

casino licensing, college b.-ketball, and boxing.
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The final day of the hearing focused on the attraction of
traditional organized crime groups to Jicensed casinos., Topics
and case histories on "skimming," junkets, organized crime in Las
Vegas casinos, and money laundering were presented, as were the
important roles of New Jersey and Nevada state regulatory systems
in "hardening" the casino targets against infiltration by

organized crime.

The following is a presentation of facts, theories and
opinfons presented at these hearings in an effort to cover every
aspect of organized c¢rime and gambling. It 1is offered as a
comprehensive review of the complex and frequently harmfu?l

relationship of gambling and organized crime.
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CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: I would like to welcome
you to this hearing of the President's Commission on
Organized Crime. Our previous hearings and interim reports
have examined the ways in which organized crime has evolved
in recent years. If there is one vommon theme that
emerged from our work so far, it is that money is the life-
blood‘of organized crime., As we discussed in our report
on money laundering, criminal syndicates use their income
to obtain influence and control over businesses and
political institutions. A significant part «f organized
crime's income is derived from gambling, the subject of

this week's hearing.

The importance of gambling as a continuing
source of revenue for orgsnized crime cannot be
underestimated, Studies indicate that in the tristate
New York area alone, 1.5 billion dollars is spent each
year on numbers games, sports bookmakers, and other
forms of illegal waqering controlled by organized crime.
Moreover, organized crime's involvement in gambling is
not limited to these illicit operations. As this week's
hearing will demonstrate, criminal cartels continue to
exert influel e over casinos and other forms of legal
wagering, through labor racketeering, and sophisticated

casino money laundering and skimming operations.

3



The Commission has been conducting an
extensive survey of state and local law enforcement
authorities. A preliminary review of this research
indicates that in the view of state and local officials,
gambling is a principal source of income for organized
crime. Indeed, the data reveal that gambling is the
largest single source of income for organized crime in
the northeastern United States. In other parts of the
country, gambling is second only to drug smuggling as
a source of income. These statistics must be
considered estimates and viewed critically, because it
ig difficult to determine precisely the total amount of
money wagered nationally.

It is clear, however, that gambling provides
organized crime with the money it needs to flourish.
Moreover, criminal involvement in wagering has other
pernicious effects. There can be no more dramatic

example of the corrupting and debilitating effect of

organized crime's influence over gambling than the "fixing'

of sporting events. Aas we will hear in testimony later
today and tomorrow, organized crime continues to
infiltrate college and other sports, The toll exacted
by organized crime's involvement in gambling should be

measured not in terms of dollars alone, but in the loss
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all society feels when sports, which many of us look to
for inspiration, relaxation, and joy, are perverted by
criminal cartels.

Today's testimony will explore the#scope of
gambling in the United States; the extent of organized
crime involvement in this activity today; and the
changing nature of criminal syndicates' illegal
gambling operations in different regions of the country.

We will also hear from law enforcement
experts who will discuss current strategy and assist
the Commission in devising new approaches to combat
orxrganized crime.

In recent years, jurisdictions throughout
the country have expanded the availability of various
forms of legalized gambl{ng. This has, of course,
occurred in the New York area with the establishment of
legalized lotteries and with proposals for instituting
other forms of legalized wagering in New York. The
Commission will be concerned at this hearing and in its
recommendations in alerting local governments to the
ways in which organized crime is able to infiltrate,
exploit, and profit from legalized gambling., Our goal
must be to devise ways to prevent the criminals from

sharing in the profits from gambling--legal or illegal.
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I will now ask the staff to proceed,

MR. HUNTERTON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Commission Investigator Mcllenhoff will prov'.de a brief
staff overview of the issues which the witnesses
will address during this hearing.

Just before Investigator Mollenhoff is sworn
in, I would like to echo the Chair's concern about the
reliability of gambling~related data over the past
several decades and, in doing so, bring the attention
of the Commission to the pie charts, if you will,
located to our left.

The authors of those charts and the
publisher of the magazine in which they originally
appeared have been kind enough to give us permission to
use their work, but asked that we echo the Chair's
sentiment and wish it made clear that their estimates
regarding the size of the illegal gambling market are,
indeed, just that -- estimates -~ and that neither the
authors nor, they believe, anyone else actually knows
how large this market is, which is one of the problems
we will be addressing now and as we move towards the

final report.

Investigator Mollenhoff, would you be sworn,

please.
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RAY MOLLENHOFF
was called as a witness and, having been first duly
sworn, testified as follows:

MR, MOLLENHOFF: Mr. Chairman and members of
the Commission:

Before calling the first witness I would
like to briefly explain the nature of today's testimony.
As you have previously observed, Mr. Chairman, the
Commission's mandate from the President is to propose
policy recommendations for consideration by federal and
state governments as well as the private sector. 1In
the course of developing the information for this
hearing, we have learned that producing these
recommendations in the area of gambling will be
particularly difficult,

During the next three days, the staff will
present a series of specific cagse studies which
illustrate how organized crime infiltrates, influences,
or controls gambling in America. We will focus on both
the legal and illegal gambling, because criminal
organizations have exercised significant influence in
both areas, since the days of Lucky Luciano in New York,
and Bugsy Siegel in Las Vegas.

Historically, illegal gambling's largest




revenue producers have been: sports bookmaking, the
daily numbers lottery, and the clandestine casino.
Just as the allure of illegal wagering reaches across
all ethnic and regional boundaries, so does its
attraction as an organized criminal enterprise. Our
nationwide survey which you discussed, Mr. Chairman,
demonstrates, and these hearings will confirm, that
illegal wagering networks remain a significant mainstay
of organized crime revenue - revenue which supports and
complements other criminal enterprise For example,
this survey of over 500 law enforcement agencies has so

far established illegal gambling as the fourth mcst

frequent identified activity of organized crime, behind

the three major drug categories., Combine those drug
categories and illegal gambling jumps to number two.
It should be noted that among the illegal gambling

revenues, sports betting is number one.

Our initial witness today will review the
state of gambling in America., We will then move on te

close-up examinations of a clandestine casino operation,

a sports bookmaking operation and a large-scale

numbers racket,

Ironically, these examples, at first glance,
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represent and resemble some old, worn snapshots from
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the days of Elliot Ness and speakeasies., They are,
however, as we sit here this morning, accepting bets,
paying off wins, and of course profiting from the
losses.,

The resources needed to police and regulate
legal gambling activity reflect the unyielding, and
sometimes successful, attempts by organized crime "families
to control, influence, extort, and flourish within
these wagering oases.

All of the elaborate enforcement mechanisms,
licensing requirements, and intended statutory
protections erected as barricades have not precluded
footholds by organized crime in these industries nor
certainly the ancillary businesses, service companies,
and trade unions surrounding them.

In the case histories we will present
tomorrow and Wednesday for this segment, we will
discuss the vulnerabilities of two casino regulatory
models: Las Vegas, where we'll review the modern
history of LCN involvement with casinos; and Atlantic
City, where we'll hear firsthand about an undercover
sting operation that discovered the existence of direct
municipal corruption and manipulation by an organized

crime family in attempts to acquire direct control and
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then benefit through a "hidden interest" in a proposed
casino.

In conclusion, it should be noted that
organized crime's role in gambling, legal or illegal,
is unlike most other criminal ventures in one very
specific regard: the public's perception of gambling
conjures up a benevolent image, unlike narcotics
trafficking, extortion, prostitution, public corruption.,
and the many other faces of the mob., Unlike these
enterprises, gambling generates "high profits," but
with "low risk" of apprehension, conviction, or
incarceration.

Some of our survey information fits the
measuxre of the traditional law enforcement view; some of it
does not, With that in mind, we begin this hearing and
our evaluation of those views to better assess what we
really know about contemporary organized crime and
gambling,

Thank you,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Thank you.

MR. HUNTERTON: Thank you, Mr. Mollenhoff,

Professor Skolnick. Please,

Would you stand and be sworn in, Professor,

JEROME H. SKOLNICK

10



was called as a witness and, having been first duly
sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

MR. HUNTERTON: Mr. Chairman, Jerome
Skolnick is Professor of Law (Jurisprudence and Social
Policy) at the University of California, Berkeley. He
has been a student of gambling and public policy, among
many other issues, for several years, and has a
distinguished record of publications, including an
authoritative 1978 work on Las Vegas entitled "House of
Cards: Legalization and Control of Casino Gambling."
Somewhat less formally, Professor Skolnick's study of
the phenomenon of gambling in America began at about
age 9, when his father took him to Belmont and taught
him how to read a racing form,

Professor Skolnick, please.

THE WITNESS: Not very well, I might add.
Thank you.

Distinguished Commissioners, you are here to
consider the relationship between gambling, organized
crime, and public policy. Some policy issues cut across
all gambling forms. Other issues address particular
forms ~- lottery, casinos, sports betting. I want to
raise with you today issues that cut across all forms

of gambling, and issues relating to individual forms

11
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that I hope will clarify your deliberations in this
important area. My problem is going to be how to tell
you everything you always wanted to know about gambling
but were afraid to ask -~ in what Stan Hunterton tells
me is only twenty minutes.

The first cross~cutting issue is the
popularity of gambling. A reformed gambler named
Jonathan Green wrote in 1857 that "the sin of gambling
against which my present efforts are directed, is as
great and widely spread as any which at this time exist
among us. Scarcely any class of our people are totally
exempt from the effects of this deplorable evil.," By
anyone's observations, the popularity of gambling can
scarcely be said to have diminished since 1857. The
National Commission on Gambling found that Americans
wagered more than 17 billion dollars in 1974 on
lotteries, horseracing, Bingo, legalized numbers, and
casino games in more than 40 states that then permitted
one form or another of legal gambling. And we don't
know how many billions are illegally wagered on
sporting events, horseraces, numbers, floating crap
games, and casinos.

Why is gambling so popular? Well, that's

very hard to pin down, The late Erving Goffman, a

12




distinguished sociologist, studied casino gambling
himself and wrote an essay called "Where the Action Is,*
Gamblers call making a bet getting down some action.
Gambling seems, above all, then, to offer self-interested
recreational involvement. A $10 bet is what keeps a
Chicago fan from turning off a televised football game
between Miami and San Francisco. That's why the
networks hired Jimmy the Greek to be a football
commentator, to explain odds, to facilitate betting,
illegal betting -= to keep the TV sets turned on,
and the Nielsen ratings turned up.

Gambling has become even more popular during
the past decade -- since the National Gambling
Commission's report. The lottery has been legalized in
a number of major states, including most recently,my
own, California. 1In that state Governor Deukmejian
opposed the lottery and so did most of the law
enforcement authorities within the state. Usually,
Governor Deukmejian and the law enforcement authorities
are persuasive with the voters. 1In this instance, they
were not, Clearly, gambling is not perceived as a
deplorable evil by an overwhelming majority of
Americans,

The morality of gambling is a very complex

138



topic. Many churches -~ usually Protestant sectarian
ones -- still continue to forbid gambling by their
parishioners, At the same time Catholic churches run
Bingo games to raise funds for useful activities. The
Protestant attitude toward gambling is part of a
Puritan tradition which flowered in this country in the
19th century. 1In this tradiéion it is wrong to earn a
reward without hard work, thrift and productivity.
Even the lottery is perceived as morally wrong. But
the lottery is a form of what I call shallow play -- as
opposed to deep play -- a term originally used by
Jeremy Bentham and which I will explain momentarily.
Shallow play is simply the mirror image of insurance.
In insurance everybody kicks in a certain amount to
benefit somebody who sustains a loss they couldn't
afford to handle themselves. In a lottery, everybody
kicks in a small amount and then a winner is selected
by chance as a.peneficiary. The lottery is simply a
legal, form of reverse insurance, and sometimes it is
called the policy racket and often called the
numbers racket.

Let me contrast the lottery to other forms
of gambling. First, in a lottery people bet relatively

small amounts. Their chances of winning, true, are

14




very remote, but they seem to enjoy the excitement of

the dream and the drawing. There is no way your everyday
working stiff is ever going to be a multimillionaire,

A lottery offers a form of instant social mobility
otherwise unobtainable in this sgociety.

Secondly, the lottery provides an
alternative to taxation for useful public works such as
schools and roads. Taxes are by definition not
voluntary, while the lottery is.

Third, the lottery appears to have only
remote connections to organized crime. In theory,
legal lotteries can replace numbers, which have been a
traditional source of gambling income for organized
crime. The replacement effect is a complex topic
requiring a combination of economic and socio~cultural
research, and I won't dwell on it today.

To my knowledge, numbers are culturally
influenced. Numbers, for example, were never important
in California. The complaint has beén made in
California, however, that the company which will
produce the machines for the lottery had organized
crime roots in the production of gaming equipment when
gambling was illegal. The public in California,

however, wasn't very impressed by that argument against

15
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introducing a lottery. The reason, I think, is that
the connection between organized crime and the lottery
seems remote.

Let me turn to some areas where it does not
seem so remote in that connection: casino gambling,
horseracing, and sports betting.

Let's look at casino gambling and
horseracing first. These perhaps enjoy somewhat less
public acceptability than the lottery, but these are
nevertheless by now widely accepted activities,
legalized casino gambling in a couple of states,
horseracing I think now in 16 states.

One concern widely expressed about casinos
and hurseracing is that they permit, even encourage,
heavy wagering. A person ordinarily bets a dollar or
$5 on a lottery; but some bettors bet their bottom
dollars, their house and car and kid's savings at
casinos or racetracks. Some borrow from loansharks to

pay off gambling debts -~ and in the process support a

major and important traditional organized crime
activity.

Heavy betting -~ and this is what I mean by
deep play: heavy betting -- was considered immoral by

19th century legal philosopher Jeremy Bentham because,
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Bentham argued, the pain of losing your last thousand
pounds was more than the pleasure of adding a thousand
pounds to the one you already had. Why was deep play a
concern of Bentham's? Because deep play was part of an
aristocratic tradition dating back to the 16th century.
Aristocrats characteristically gambled for large sums,
It was as important for an English nolk.eman to know how
to play cards or handle dice as it was to dance or ride
a horse, The capacity to gamble heavily, both in
traditional English society and in parts of American
society today, may be a mark of social status. Indeed,
in England the Gambling Act of 1710, which made
gambling debts unenforceable, was intended to protect
the great estates of England from the ravages of
gambling. People like Crockford, who was a fishmongex,
were taking estates away from the aristocracy through
gambling, and Queen Anne herself was a heavy gambler.
What about this notion of heavy gambling?
Well, that iz a second kind of moral issue: heavy
gambling or compulsive gambling. It is an especially
interesting issue regarding gambling, because, unlike
alcohol and other drugs, the compulsion with respect to
gambling does not come from a change induced by an

external chemical or an internally ingested chemical.

17




I have been studying deviant behavior Ffor many years,
and I have come to believe that addictions derive at
least as much from personality predispositions of
people as from the activity itself, Most of you, most
of us in this room, won't become compulsive gamblers or
compulsive drinkers, even though we all enjoy that
opportunity. Why don't we? 1It's a good question. An
important issue, then, for this Commission is -« where
legalization of alcohol, which we already have,
gambling, perhaps other drugs occurs -- how can we
facilitate moderate or non-use rather than compulsive or
addictive activity?

Another policy issue affecting gambling and
organized crime is the inconsistency of public policy
regarding gambling. You have already learned that it
is hard to caution young people not to use marijuana
when their elders drink alcohol, A similar problem is
encountered regarding gambling, It is diffiicult to
control illegal sports betting, for example, in an
environment and a society that permits casino gambling,
horseracing, and lotteries., One evident price is the
creation of structural support for organized crime.
Where sports betting is illegal, organized crime has to

flourish, with accompanying side effects such as the
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corruption of police and other authorities.

Another issue that I think this Commission
should address, really has to address, is the proper
role of government ang public policy with respect to
gambling, Again I should stress that each gambling

oform may involve special policy issues. Still,
regarding each gambling form, we should ask the
following questions: What is the gdoal of government
policy? what are we trying te achieve by our three
main governmental options -~ prohibition, permission,
and promotion? Do we approve the situation we've
created? And, finally, what can be done about it if
we don't approve?

Let me use the lottery to illustrate. The
lottery is usually established for the purpose of
raising revenues that would otherwis% be collecteq
through taxation. As a result, the government becomes
involved not only in permitting an activity but in
promoting it, in creating a demand for that activity.
Justice Louis Brandeis once wrote: "Our government is
the potent, omnipresent teacher. For good or ill, it
teaches the whole people by its example." -

I think you have to ask yoursclves: Is it consistent

for the same government that is supposed to promote

19
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literacy, the environment, and public health and safety
also to endorse and promote gambling?

If it is argued that the government is using
the revenue produced by gambling to promote salutary
activities, for example, education, the question
remains whether the revenue is produced fairly, A
lottery has to be regressive in the following sense:
Poorer people are likely to bet proportionately more of
their income than richer people, largely motivated by
the dreams of riches.

Let me say again that when you think about
gambling, organized crime, and what the government
should do about it, you must first consider the goals
of legalizétioﬁ. In Nevada, for example, casino
gambling was legalized to raise general revenue,

Nevada began seriously to control casino gambling only
after the federal government during the 1960s forced
control with the first Strike Forces during the Kennedy
Administration. As a result of federal pressure,
Nevada forced its more infamous gangsters out of the
casino business., But that wasn't easy. Somebody
needed to buy the casinos. 1In good part, Howard Hughes
performed that function for the state. And whatever

his other flaws might have been, Howard Hughes wasn't

20
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organized crime. In the 19605 other respectable
corporate leaders did not want to touch casino gambling.
The problem for the State of Nevada at that time was to
transform this stigmatized industry into something that
would attract legitimate entrepreneurs and maybe, more
importantly, legitimate lenders. That was very
difficult.

When 1 first started studying legal casino
gambling in Nevada in 1974, @ was told that organized
crime was out of it. 1Indeed, the head of the Los
Angeles Strike Force so testified before the National
Commission on Gambling, But I learned that organized
crime was not out of Nevada at that time. During the
next few years scandals were to emerge about the
relationship between organized crime interests in
several casinos. and you, I understand, will hear a
revealing conversation between crime bosses Nick
Civella, carl Civella and Carl De Luna and casino
executive Carl Thomas, where he teaches his LCN bosses
how to skim casinos.

Casinos that were infiltrated by organized
crime were financed by the Teamsters Central States
Pension Funds. When I came into Nevada ten years ago

the Teamsters Pension Funds held a quarter of a billion

21




dollars worth of mortgages on Las Vegas casinos. These
; casinos were vulnerable to LCN infiltration. Aas the
casino industry has expanded, and particularly as
financing has been able to be obtained from
conventional legitimate lenders, the threat of
organized crime control has diminished considerably.
. Moreover, as the casino industry has expandad and

become more legitimate, more people have learned how to

run these complex gambling palaces. In the beginning,
the only people who knew how to run casinos virtually

! were those who were organized crime connected. But, as
I suggest, that is now changing.

Wwhen New Jersey legalized casinos it did two

% things that were different from Nevada. First, it

i tightened up controls; and secondly, it changed goals.

} It did not institute the casinos for the purpose of raising
general revenue. Its purpose was to rejuvenate the

economy of a failing resort area. I don't think that

any other state in the United States can or should
consider the Nevada model. I don't even think Nevada

would consider the Nevada model today. Nevadans aren't

toc happy, I think, about their dependence upon casinos

i for general revenues.

The New Jersey model is more tenable, but it

22




it i dens o citataniE

has its own problems. One of those is the relation
between politics and the adequacy of casino licensing
as a regulatory device. When New Jersey legalized
casinos, the voters were promised that they would have
casino gambling on the Boardwalk in the summer of 1978.
It became clear in early 1978, however, that the major
active applicant, Resorts International, a company
whose affiliation with gambling in the Bahamas had in
the past attracted federal scrutiny, could never be
licensed in time for gambling to begin in the summer of
1978. The New Jersey authorities were caught on the
horns of a major dilemma: how do you reconcile the
political imperative to bring casino gambling to the
Boardwalk quickly with the assurance of a lengthy,
detailed investigation of an applicant? The problem
was solved by offering Resorts a temporary license,

But it was clear to outside observers, clear to me, it
was clear to anybody who knew anything about the
business, that the temporary license virtually
guaranteed a permanent one., Thus, it didn't matter
later on that the Division of Gaming Enforcement in New
Jersey recommended against giving Resorts a license,
They got i% anyway. The power of the industry within

the state, particularly within the legislature, is one
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of the limits of the regulatory process. In Nevada,
the Gaming Control Board is always caught between two
cross-purposes: One is to control the industry; the
other is to protect the industry because the state
depends upon it for its revenues,

Other states are now considering
legalization of casinos, or for that matter other
forms of gambling., My advice to them and to you, very
briefly, is this: 1It's very important, first of all,
to decide upon and to know what your goals are. What
do you want to get out of this legalization? If we are
talking about casinos, I would say decide via a blue
ribbon commission how many casinos are desirable for
the state and where it is desirable to have them.

Stick to that plan. If I were testifying, I would tell
any such Commission: Don't have casinos in big cities,
I am opposed to a casino in New York City. Gambling
and lunch do not work well. I don't think most working
people can really handle slot machines for lunch, I
also think it is important that when people gamble they
should have the opportunity to make a conscious
decision that they want to do it. A trip to where the
gambling is requires a consciocus decision, and I think

we should at least give the gambler that break.
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Second, legalization should maximize, in my
opinion, control both as a goal and as a reality. 1In
my opinion, both Nevada and New Jersey employ a
fundamentally inadequate licensing procedure. 1If the
state really wants to control, it should assert
something like this: We want to license two casinos in
Resort Area A, Saratoga, OK. We will accept
applications detailing what these casinos will look
like, who will run them, and what their impact will be
on the local environment, The state should be in the
position of selecting the outstanding applicant. It
would not have to show, as it does in Nevada and New
Jersey, that the applicant is somehow unqualified. 1In
both of these places, in effect, a burden is placed
upon the state, although not in theory, but in effect a
burden is placed upon the state to prove the applicant
is unqualified. It will be better for control purposes
if the applicant had the burden of proving why it is
best, from among a number of applicants.

Perhaps our most difficult question today is
one which has been raised earlier: What is the
relation between organized crime and sports betting?

We know that billions of dollars are spent annually on

sports betting. We don't know how many billions. But

25




T e

i

we do know that bookmakers must be thriving in every
city of the United States, We also know from priox
experience that if bookmakers thrive illegally, we are
promoting an underground economy. That economy doesn't
pay its failr share of taxes; and it has to corrupt
police and public officials, I have so far discussed,
wlth regard to casino gambling, two reasons for
legalization, One is revenue raising and the other is
regort renewal, But there is a third reason for
legalizing gambling, and 1 think it is the most
important and the most legltimate that a government has
for legalizing gambling, and that is to control those
who are the putrveyors of gambling. That is, given the
frank recognition that the activity is soclally
acceptable -- enough to be widespread and to encourage
organized crime =~ the government should legalize
primarily to control, If we were to legalize sports
betting, in my opinion revenue raising should be a
distant consideration. England legalizes casinos not
to raise revenue, not to renew resorts, but to keep
organized crime out of the casino business. It
legalizes bookmaking for the same reason, Sports
bookmaking could be legalized in thils country -- if

done properly. It would have to be able to compete
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with illegal bookkeeping via phone betting credit
arrangemaents and perhaps no tax on winnings. But it
could be done {f done for control purposes.

One problem that has been raised with
respect to legalization of aports betting is its impact
on sports corruption. Frankly, I don't see how
legalization could make it any worse. If it were legal,
you would at least know who the big legal bettors were
and you would know who were taking the bets. Amateur
sports corruption has been around here for a long time.
Although I am a professor at the University of
California, I am a graduate of the City College of New
York., I graduated in 1952, My sophomore classmates
won the NCAA and NIT basketball titles in 1950. In
1951, several of them were caught shaving points and
even dumping games. I was managing editor and
editorial writer for the City College newspaper at that
time. It was apparent to the l9-year-old me that the
hyped-up atmosphere of big~-time Madison Square Garden
basketball could not contribute to the moral
development of l9-year-olds from New York City streets
aven if they were terrific basketball players, I am
sure I felt that these players were responsible for

their crimes, these l9-ycar-olds, 20-year-olds, but I
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also felt the college administration bore a heavy share
of the responsibility. I still do. Putting these
youngsters from inner-city playgrounds in that
situation was like sitting them down in a bar after the
game and telling them that they were under age and had
to turn down any free beer that might be offered.

In conclusion, then, my own prescription for
legalization of gambling -- and really of vice in
general -- is that we too often address the wrong
question, The question we want to address, I
respectfully suggest, is not whether we should legalize,
but, rather, if we do, what should be our goals, what
should we try to achieve? 1In my opinion, our highest
goals should be the suppression of the substantial
benefits organized crime receives from prohibited
activity. I would look to legalization as a way of
undercutting these benefits -~ and I would certainly
oppose advertising or promotion by government. I would
always distinguish between nonprohibition as a policy
for control versus promotion to enhance revenue. Aas a
student of gambling and government, I would strongly
recommend, then, favoring legalization only for control
and just as strongly oppose legalization primarily for

revenue enhancement. Thank you.

28




i
)
i
!
5
!
i
]

R B e

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Thank you.

MR. HUNTERTON: Thank you, Professor.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: I would like to ask the
professor a question or two,

I am confused over your conclusion, because
during the course of your statement you seem to agree
that legalization does not ipso facto eliminate
organized crime. And I think activities of organized
crime have borne that out. We see commissions of the
various states struggling with ownership of these
casinos, and they find a member of organized crime
lurking somewhere behind. Moreover -- maybe you could
take this as a package and then answer it -- moreover,
even where legalized, for example in New York we have
legalized the numbers game, and yet there is a big,
thriving, illegal activity in the numbers game simply
because there is a bigger take, there are no taxes to
be paid, there are any number of other reasons. So
that legalization, I have observed, does not ordinarily
control the forces that we are concerned with here, and
that is organized crime.

That goes for drugs. It has been suggested
it be legalized. We know in England, for example, it

is legalized, and yet there is a big drug market on the

29




\
;
|
!
i
!
§

S R

outside,

I am sure you have thought of this problom,
I am very much concerned about whether legalizing
wouldn't put the imprimatur of the state and government
upon it, And I don't pretend to be a moralilst; peoople
have always enjoyed gambling, and in tha carly 18508 in
New York it was quite a thriving industry, But I don't
quite share your view that legalizing will be the
answer to the problem,

MR, SKOLNICK: Your Honor, I agree with you
that legalizing s not the answer to the problem, but I
don't think that is what I suggested, sir, I am
suggesting that legalizing is part of an answer for a
vory large problem. It is not a panacea. The question
really is what the conditions of legallization are going
te be when you legalize. And they vary for the
different forms of gambling,

wWith casinos, I think that conaiderable
gtrides have bean made in dealing with organized crime
and legal casino gambling., As I indicated in my talk,
I don't think the controls are strong enough, I think
they could be astronger,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: DId you mention in your

statement that there was going to be a tape here
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indicating instructions on how to skim money?

MR. SKOLNICK: 'That's rxight,

CHAJIRMAN KAUFMAN: With organized crime in
a lagalized casino?

MR. SKOLNICK: That's right,

CHAIRMAN KAUEFMAN: It 18 used for skimming
operationa, it ls used for laundering operations. 8o
doesn't it really become a screen?

MR, SKOLNICK: No, I think that is an
overstatement, sir, with all due respect. Flrst of all,
what 1 suggested was a different model for legalization,
I think you miss wmy point, unless I stress that agains
The question is not whether you legalize per se; the
question 1s how you legalize, what kind of goals you
pursue when yeu legalize, what kind of contxols you
institute. The legalization model that exists in
Nevada is, in my opinion, inadoguate. 1 stated that in
my testimony. But I can think of an alternative
legnlization model that would be far more adequate,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAM: Can you state it briefly?

MR, SBKOLNICK: Yes, It is a model that
would be a resort bidding medel. It would go something

like this: You first of all decide =~ or I call it a

zoning merit model., Let's call it that. 2oning merit,
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You decide where you want casinos. You decide what
number you want and why you want them there. And there
may be good reason for renewing failing resorts. You
want a certain number, a limited number of casinos.

Secondly, you ask qu'bids on them. Now, in
Nevada you don't get bids.  Anybody who wants to build
a casino can build one, cbme in and apply for a license.
In effect the the burden is on the state then to prove
that they had organized crime connections in the past.
That is often very difficult to prove. There may be
deep suspicion., Here you would have applicants. You
would not have to say that you are stigmatizing a
particular applicant, You could say, well, we have a
number of qualified applicants. We are accepting the
most qualified. You could use that kind of model for
legalizing bookmaking. You could ask people to submit
applications,

I teach at a law school. We have many more
applications than we have room for qualified people.
So do we have on the federal judiciary. 1 mean, if you
say that somebody wasn't appointed a federal judge it
doesn't mean that you have stigmatized that person.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: I am not so sure,

sometimes. (Laughter)
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On the other hand, what you are saying, on
the surface, has great appeal, but once you would
select the operator, how would you control organized
crime from moving in, which they have? They control
the unions, they do the supplying of the help, and so
forth. That is basically the problem. They are fine
at the beginning. The legitimate operator goes along
and he does his job. But how do you keep organized
crime from moving in around the periphery?

MR. SKOLNICK: That is very difficult. But,
you know, it is also difficult to keep organized crime
from around the periphery of a number of industries -~

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Of course.

MR, SKOLNICK: =~ as you well know.

Where you have a legalized, highly
controlled industry, in some way you have a better
handle for keeping them out, or away from the center.
Now it is the center that they are used to have.
If you move them out to the periphery, that might be
considered an accomplishment.

In this society there are no panaceas for
getting rid of organized crime overnight. The question
is what kinds of policies, what kinds of controls, can

we institute that will diminish the influence and
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respectability of oxganized crime?

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: All right, Professor,

COMMISSIONER DINTINO: Professor Skolnick, I
read your book, "House of Cards," and found it to be
very knowledgeable, and I think your presentation today
was outstanding, it offered some new, innovative and
creative ideas, But to pick up on the Chairman's
poaition, I think the other point that hasn't been
addreased here today -~ and I being from New Jersey we
have done research in this area and I don't see where
you mention in your statement where you have done any
research, and we will use Atlantic City casinos as an
example ~~ I think you would have to admit that with
the advent of Atlantic City casinos, probably about 95
percent of their customers never went to a casino
before. What we say 1s gambling begets gamblers, new
gamblers, it creates new gamblers. Now, of that whole
group of new gamblers, wouldn't you concede that a
certain percentage of them would become compulsive
gamblers, and wouldn't you concede that a certain
percentage of them would revert to illegal gambling;
that once they get bitten by the bug, that they turn to
i1llegal sports bookmaking, illegal bookmaking, illegal

lottery?
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Then another point I would like to make is:
You scem to believe that If you legalize something that
you can control it, We had illegal casinos in the
state before casino gambling_and we still have illegal
casinos in the state. How would you respond to any or
all of those?

MR, SKOLNICK: Agaln, let's start with your
firat question., First of all, 1f I were legalizing
casinos anywhore else, 1 would not use Atlantlc City as
a model, I think Atlantic City in many ways is a kind
of disastrous model to use, I would never put that
kind of concentration of casinos in one place, to begin
with., I would never depend in any one state in any one
place in any one city in any one resort on casinos for
my continued economic health, So Atlantic Clty is vexy
bad as a model in that sensae,

Secondly, I agree that when you have a
situation where it is the only place on the East Coast
where you have this kind of casino industry thriving,
it becomes a tremendous glamor form and you are going
to attract a lot of people there who want to see it who
never saw it before, If 1t were a more normalized kind
of activity, I think i{f you had a couple of c¢asinos

here, a couple of casinos there, as you have in the
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i European model, for example, away from the cities,

people would be more used to it and I don't think that

i

ot they would run to the casinos quite as much as they run

to Atlantic City. They might.
i I am not for legalizing. I am really

responding to the thrust toward expansion of gambling

that I see in this society. e have got gambling. The
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question is, what are we going to do about it.

You made a very good point., You say that,
well, with legalization people can gamble who didn't
gamble before. I think that is a problem with respect
to casino gambling., I think that is less of a problem
with respect to sports betting. That is, I think there

is a tremendous amount of sports betting in this
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society. I think the reason you have "Monday Night

Football" being so successful is because there is an
enormous amount of betting on Monday Night Football,
Gambling is part of our national pastime at this point.
And I don't think you are going to introduce a lot more
people into sports betting if you were to legalize it
than you have now, because anybody who wants to bet on

the Super Bowl, who can't find a bookmaker in this
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society, has to be regarded as mentally deficient,

‘ (Laughter)
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COMMISSIONER DINTINO: I am sorry to say I
fit that category, sir.

MR. SKOLNICK: Did you look for one, sir?
Did you look for one? You didn't look for one.

COMMISSIONER DINTINO: I looked for him to
arrest him, not to bet with him,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: I want you to understand
that we are not holding this hearing for the purpose of
suggesting that gambling should be eliminéted from the
United States. It is impossible., It has been with us
as long as we have been a nation., What we are looking
for, however, is to prevent the infiltration by
organized crime into gambling. And it seems to be a
very fertile field.

MR. SKOLNICK: Judge Kaufman, I agree with
you, with everything you have just said. Think of
the implications of that. We have gambling with us,
So the gquestion is not, are my proposals going to
create an interest in gambling, The interest in
gambling is there. The sports betting is there.
Whether we approve of it or deplore it is irrelevant
for the moment. It is there. The question is: How
can we keep organized crime out of it as much as

possible? Not entirely; that would be a panacea. How
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do we keep them out of it as much as possible?

I suggest to you, sir, that with respect to
that tape you are going to hear, even in Nevada, a low
minority of the casinos how are organized crime-
infiltrated, as compared to what they were earlier.

Legalization gives authority a handle on
control., It is imperfect. You can corrupt controllers.
You can corrupt police. You know, you can corrupt
officials. That is always possible. But at least
there is a possibility of control at a different level
where one didn't exist before.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Professor Skolnick, you
make a curious statement in the written statement that
we have and you repeated it in your oral statement., I
just would like some explanation and some background on
how you think this happened., It says casinos that were
infiltrated by organized crime were financed by the
Teamsters Central States Pension Fund, Explain this
chicken-and-egqg phenomenon for us. Which came first
and how do they interrelate?

MR. SKOLNICK: Right. Casinos are a
stigmatized industry, certainly in the 1960s,
Conventional lenders don't want to lend to casinos:

banks, insurance companies and so forth., Like any
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other industry, the casino industry needs to expand.
Where does it get funds? Well, it looks around for
them. One of the sources of funds are union pension
funds. The Teamsters Central States Pension Fund was a
very large union pension fund., It was controlled by
Jimmy Hoffa, and later by others. But in general the
pattern went as follows: Organized crime families
infiltrated local unions in Detroit, Cleveland, and so
forth., These unions nominated trustees to the pension
fund. These trustees were organized crime associates,
The trustees in turn were happy to lend to casinog --
the investments didn't always turn out to be bad, by
the way -- but they were happy to lend to casinos, and
part of the cost was, or the price was, illegal
skimming. They would put in, as a bank might, fox
example -~ a bank, if it were on the board of directors
of a legltimate corporation, might want to have a
trustee sitting there, or might want to have some say
in who was going to manage a railrocad. Well, they had
some say in who was going to manage the casino. They
put Carl Thomas into the casino, and Carl Thomas then
reported back to them and gave them what they wanted -
orie of the'things that they wanted, which was skimmed

money.
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COMMISSIONER ROWAN: The skim did not go
back to the trustees from the pension funds; the skim
went back to friends, relatives,and other organized
crime people?

MR. SKOLNICK: Well, that is what we assume.
I mean, I don't know of anybody who has actually
followed where a skim went, but we know that it is
nontaxable income,

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: The Central States
Pension Fund investment is related somehow? Can you
relate that somehow to the reduction in organized crime
control of the Las Vegas casinos?

MR. SKOLNICK: Oh, yes. You see, as the
casinos became more respectable and as more respectable
entrepreneurs came in%o the business, some banks,
insurance companies, financial organizations, were
willing to raise money to invest in casinos. Now, if
you have money invested by Paine Webber, you know, some
major Wall Street investor, if you raise your money
that way through debentures, publicly traded debentures,
then you don't have that kind of control, The
investment banker may have an interest in the casino,
but we would assume that that is not an organized crime

interest,
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COMMISSIONER ROWAN: However, organized
crime, once in the casinos, should not be shy about
receiQing money from so-called legitimate sources and
continuing the skimming.

MR. SKOLNICK: But they won't get it. You
see, the difference is that investment bankers know a
little bit about organized crime also.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: I won't follow up on
that.

MR. SKOLNICK: Well, I assume that. As you
know, having gone through many hearings before this,
the question of what is organized crime is a very
complicated one. I am talking about kind of -~ let's
for the moment talk about notorious organized crime, La
Cosa Nostra, the Civellas of the world, the Frattianos
of the world, the Meyer Lanskys --

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: What I awm looking for
is, what difference does it make where the money comes
from to support the casinos to the corruption of the
casino?

MR. SKOLNICK: Oh, if the money comes from
somebody who is primarily interested -- is making an
investment in order to get the skim, then you are going

to have corruption in the casino, that is, you are
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going to have skimming. Is that falr?

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Yes, And if somebody
is investing to make money, there will be less skimming
but there will still be skimming?

MR. SKOLNICK: No, there won't be. There
should not be skimming. Look, if somebody has a major
interest in a casino, and it igs a public interest, the
skimming might mean very little to them, I mean,
compared to the multiple on the stock market. You see,
you get into a different business. The skimming
involved, say, millions, but, you know, not that many
millions. Five, six, seven million dollars, If you
have a guccessful casino in Atlantic city today and you
happen to have 20 percent of the gtock in that casino,
you are much better off with increasing your wultiple
on the stock market than you are with skimming. You
wouldn't want to jeopardize yourself particularly. I
mean, there is no reason for it.

I am assuming that people who run casinos
ara rationally self-interested now, not moral.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: I just think we are
looking at two meparate worlds, I think we are looking
at the people who invest in casinos, one world; and the

people who run casinos, second world. And while the
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people who run casinos may, to some extent, appear to
be passing all the money back to the people who invest
in casinos, there is still a large slopover which
doesn't get back to the investors.

MR. SKOLNICK: Well, not necessarily.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: You don't think so?

MR. SKOLNICK: You are assuming that every
casino is skimmed.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: No, I am assuming that
there are lots of things going on in casinos, some of
which is skim, some of which is payoffs to junketeers,
some of which is payoffs to people who wash their money
through the casinos -~ all sorts of things. That has
nothing to do with the legitimate people who invest,
allegedly.

MR. SKOLNICK: Well, that's right. I mean,
there are many, you know, there are many things that
can go on in casinos. The question is, what are the
conditions under which skimming will occur most likely?
The question is, what are the conditions under which
various kinds of payoffs will occur? Nevada and New
Jersey have in the past relied upon licensing in order
to control these activities. They have investigated

who owns the casino, who are key officials in the
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casino, and so forth,
COMMISSIONER ROWAN: I understand that, I

| understand that, but the thing that you said in your

statement, it seems to me, is not entirely correct., No

matter who invests money in the casino, whether it is

the Teamsters or somebody else, there is still a
possibility in the casino world, too, for illegitimate
activities; it could be organized crime control.

MR. SKOLNICK: Look, there is a possibility ~-

you should understand this, I think, that there is a

possibility in every high cash flow business, including
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a bank, for organized crime activity.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: That's right.

{ MR. SKOLNICK: 1If I were to take this
distinguished group of Commissioners and have them as
the board of directors of a casino selecting all of the
casino personnel, you still might get some activities
that we wouldn't approve of going on, but the
probability of those activities occurring, I suggest to
you, would be considerably diminished.

! COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: I think you will agree

that that hasn't operated that way with legalized

casinos?
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MR, SKOLNICK: I am sorry, sir, but I
disagree, It has operated that way. We don't see
skimming scandals in certain casinos, If you look at
the skimming scandals in Nevada, you will see that most
of the casinos that were involved, the Aladdin, the
Stardust, all of these casinos were financed by
Teamster Central States Pension Fund moneys.

CHATRMAN KAUFMAN: Do you attach any
significance at all that organized crime controls the
supplies to the casinos? 1Is that of any importance
whatsoever to us?

MR. SKOLNICK: Well, it is not clear to me
that organized crime does supply all of -- what does
organized crime supposedly supply? You see, one of the
problems is, again, where we are with what we consider
to be organized crime., Do we consider --

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: It would be useless to
start going into that, We have been talking about it,
defining it and so forth, and I assumed that you knew
the answer to that, But the fact is, I understand it
is pretty much established that -- again we talk about
periphery -- we are talking about the supplies of food,
we are talking about the supplies of linen, we are

talking about all the supplies that go into running --
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MR. SKOLNICK: Oh, I see, Those supplies,
Well, there is organized crime infiltration of a number
of labor unions and a number of traditional kinds of

supplies. The question for me would be: Is there more

| organized crime control of supplies of linen, let's say,

i to casinos than to other hotels? I don't know. I

don't know the answer to that., It may well be that

organized crime is involved in certain kinds of --
CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Yes, but the point that

you made and the point that I want to get clear is that

i the attachment and the emphasis of the word "legalized"

doesn't necesgsarily mean legalized, because there are

these activities going on around the periphery; that
that emphasis is not put -- for example, you utilized
the banking industry. We accept the banking industry.
We don't talk of it as being legalized. You are

é talking of gambling as being legalized. The assumption
is, therefore, everything is pure and innocent.

MR, SKOLNICK: Well, I think that would not

é be my assumption; that in any legalized activity,
including the banking industry or inciuding --

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: I am particularly
interested in gambling.

MR. SKOLNICK: What is that?
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CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: I am particularly
interested in gambling.

MR. SKOLNICK: Well, look, there is a
history of organized crime interest in gambling. Where
gambling is not legal, we may assume that organized
crime is in control. Where gambling is legal,
organized crime is at the periphery. I regard that as
something of an accomplishment.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Aall right. I have taken
too much time. Are there any other Commissioners who
have questions?

MR, HARMON: May I ask one question, Mr.
Chairman,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Go ahead.

MR. HARMON: Professor Skolnick, the
Commission staff has taken a deposition from Bob Knight,
the basketball coach of the University of Indiana, who
was asked this gueation:

"Do you think gambling on c¢ollege athletics
should be legalized?"

Bob Knight anaswered this way: "I don't
think gambling should be legalized on anything., I have
just never been one to feel that we should have

legalized gambling on sporting events. The history of
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gambling on sporting events involves all kinds of
bribes and fixes. Any time there is a situation where
odds are being published somebody is trying to figure
out a way to beat those odds, and that obviously has
resulted in the sports scandals that we have had
involving betting and gambling."

Do you, Professor Skolnick, if I could ask
you this question, advocate the legalization of sports
betting on college athletics under any set of controls
as a means of controlling organized crime?

MR, SKOLNICK: Well, what I am suggesting is
that you investigate -- I have not done a study of
legalization of sports betting. I am saying that it is
one of the things that you ought to consider. My
feeling is that there is a great deal of betting anyway.
I mean, there is a certain problem I have with the
reality of a statement like that. You say legalized
gambling. When there is legalized gambling you are
going to have odds released publicly, as if we don't
have odds released publicly now. I can pick up any
newspaper on the day of the Super Bowl and I can tell
you what the odds are. The odds are announced on the
airwaves., Everybody knows what the point spread is. I

just don't see how legalization would change publicity.

48




B
i
{
H
i
1
i
i
t
i
H
i

T+ would seem to me it would be very difficult for
somebody who wanted to learn about the odds on a
sporting event not to find out about them in this
society.

MR. HARMON: Do you draw any distinction
between college and professional athletics insofar as
the legalization of speorts betting?

MR, SKOLNICK: One of the things I made here
by implication, I will make it a little more strongly
now, is that I think that college athletics are
terribly exploited, I am opposed to big-time college
athletics. I think it is inevitable that when you have
in effect professionals playing for college athletic
teams, you are going to have a lot of gambling on the
events., You no longer have the notion of amateur
athletics that we had,

If you ask me what kind of world I would
like to have, I think we would share our visions. I am
giving testimony in terms of the world that already
exists.

COMMISSIONER SCLAFANI: Professor, if I
could interject something here., You certainly came
across, at least to me and a number of others, as not

necessarily proposing but in favor of legalization of
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sports betting, and there have been a number of coaches
of college athletics who are the closest people to that
situation who are vehemently opposed,

MR. SKOLNICK: Sure,

COMMISSIONER SCLAFANI: And one of the
things that you mentioned was the publishing of point
spreads and the publishing of odds, and several coaches
have come out against the publishing of odds and the
publishing of point spreads, which is somewhat of
a solution to that problem,

MR, SKOLNICK: Well, there are many roads
to solutions,

COMMISSIONER SCLAFANI: Exactly. And it is
not just hitting it at one end., It could be hitting
from another, which is not legalization.

MR. SKOLNICK: Yes: I am not a great
proponent of legalization of sports betting., I am
saying, given the situation that exists, I would like
to see something done about it. Now, let me say
something about --

COMMISSIONER SCLAFANI: And we are making a
distinction here now between professional sports and

college athletics?

MR. SKOLNICK: That's right. But I think
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that the college athletic coaches have a kind of
self~interest in this. They want you to think and the
public to think and all of us to think that these
really are amateur games that are going on, And they
are not. I mean, that's ==

COMMISSIONER SCLAFANI: I really think that
that isn't the issue here. The issue is organized
crime's involvement in sports betting., I was just

zeroing you in on the distinction between the

~professional and college athletics. And I think you

have answered it. Thank you.

CHALIRMAN KAUFMAN: Professor Skolnick, I
just want to tell you that we are very grateful to you
for coming here today. Your statement is, I would say,
very elucidating and helpful. We may agree or we may
not agree with certain conclusions you draw., We will
probably disagree with those conclusions which stem
from your years at City College (laughter); your years
at Berkeley herhaps gave you a better education in this
respect. But, at any rate, it was very nice of you to
come, we are very dgrateful to you.

We will ask Mr. Hunterton to call the next
witness,

MR. SKOLNICK: Thank you for hearing me,
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MR. HUNTERTON: Thank you.

{(The witness was excused.)

MR. HUNTERTON: Will Prank Storey, Joseph
DePierro,and Robert Gaugler please come forward.

Gentlemen, before you are seated, would you
all stand and be sworn.

FRANK STOREY, JOSEPH DePIERRO:and ROBERT GAUGLER
were called as witnesses and, having been first duly
sworn, were examined and testified as follows:

MR. HUNTERTON: Mr. Chairman, anchoring our
next panel, if you will, in the middle chair is Frank
J. Storey, Jr., currently Assistant Special Agent in
Charge of the Organized Crime Branch, Criminal Division,
of the New York Office of the FBI. He has recently
been named to move down to Washington and become the
Section Chief of the Organized Crime Section at Bureau
Headquarters.,

I would ask Mr. Harmon to introduce the
members of the panel to Mr. Storey's left and right.

MR. HARMON: Mr. Chairman, the questioning
of these witnesses will be shared by myself and Mr.
Hunterton. Joseph DiPierro,to Mr. Storey's right, is a
Deputy Inspector of the New York City Police Department

assigned to the Public Morals Division which comes
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under the supervision of the Organized Crime Control
Bureau. He has been a member of the New York City
Police Department for 29 years,

Seated to Mr. Storey's right is Lieutenant
Robert Gaugler, a Lieutenant in the New Jersey State
Police, currently assigned to the Organized Crime
Bureau, He has been a member of the New Jersey State
Police for 23 years.

MR. HUNTERTON: Thank you.

Mr. Storey, we will ask you to go first,
please.

MR. STOREY: Good merning, Mr. Chairman and
members of the Commission., I will briefly read you my
statement here. I will condense it a little bit
because of the time problem.

I would like to provide you with an overview
of the FBI's investigative jurisdiction concerning
illegal gambling, the involvement of La Cosa Nostra in
illegal gambling, the involvement of nontraditional
organized crime groups, and information concerning the
FBI's policy on the conduct of illegal gambling
investigations.

The FBI's organized crime program has three

investigative priorities, They are traditional
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organized crime -- the La Cosa Nostra, if you will;
nontraditional organized crime groups; and narcotics
matters.,

Since 1978, the FBI has achieved successes
in the fight against our number one priority, ILa Cosa Nostra.
As a result of the highly successful and selective
utilization of three major investigative techniques =~
namely informants, undercover operations and Title III
electronic gurveillances --the majority of the bosses in
La Cosa Nostra families across the United States have
been indicted and/or convicted.

While these accomplishmerits present a very
vivid picture of the successes achieved to date, they
by no means represent the whole spectrum of what has
been achieved in the organized crime program. Numerous
indictments and convictions of lower-level LCN members
and associates have also been obtained.

FBI investigations concerning illegal
gambling operations have been significant in developing
evidentiary information regarding illegal gambling
activities as well as additional crimes as extortion,
loansharking, infiltration of legitimate businesses,
and narcotics,

It is conservatively estimated that more
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than one-half of organized crime revenues come from
illegal gambling activities., From this monetary power
base, members of the LCN are able to conirol certain
public officials at various levels of government,
continue their lucrative business,and finance other
racketeering activities. The impact on society caused
by these numerous criminal operations has had a
profound, adverse effect in many areas of the United
States.

The FBI investigates illegal gambling based
on guidelines derived from the Department of Justice.
These guidelines prioritize our illegal gambling
investigations into those areas in which there is
direct or indirect control of the illegal gambling
operation by traditional organized crime, namely the
LCN; police or public corruption; or the gambling
operation realizes an income which is extraordinary for
that particular region.

In investigations involving organized
criminal enterprises engaging in a variety of
substantial illegal activities, gambling violations are
pursued by the FBI as predicate offenses in Racketeer
Influenced and Corrupt Organization investigations,

namely RICO. This fact is particularly true in matters
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involving a combination of illegal gambling and
loansharking violations, especially when the
loansharking is the direct result of the gambling
activiéy, which it often is.

The FBI has been most successful in using
gambling and the collection of unlawful debts as
excellent predicate offenses in obtaining significant
RICO prosecutions. Through this approach, the
bookmakers, the LCN, and corrupt officials are faced
with stronger sentences and property or monetary losses
through criminal forfeiture which is a remedy available
through successful RICO prosecutions.

The FBI's continued responsibility in
gambling investigations of major organized crime groups
is essential due to the fact that gambling and violence
go hand in glove. LCN figures operating bookmaking
rings generally protect their monopolies by savage acts
of violence against those opposing them. pyrthermore, this
brutality stems from the underworld's all-
consuming greed and desire to eliminate competition.

Illegal gambling saps the financial
resources of the nation to deal with social problems by
concealing vast sums of money from taxation. It also

drains the family budget of those least able to afford
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anything beyond the bare necessities of life,
especially in the case of the compulsive gambler.

I1llegal gambling spawns a whole generation
of other crimes, Not only does it drive hard-pressed
victims to loansharks, who regularly use threats and
violence as tools of their trade, but also leads to
other crimes committed by victims indebted to the
organized crime operatives.

FBI investigations have demonstrated that
illegal gambling can have a corruptive influence on law
enforcement and public officials. This type of
corruption fosters other illegal activities whose
victims are honest citizens.

Gambling joins narcotics and labor
racketeering as the most lucrative ventures of
organized crime.

The FBI does not gather statistical
information to estimate the revenue generated by
organized crime in gambling operations, and, as Mr.
Skolnick pointed out, this is next to impossible. But
some gambling experts have estimated that organized
crime derives approximately $26 to $30 billion annually
from illegal gambling operations,

In illegal gambling, sports bookmaking is
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the number one money producer for organized crime's gambling
activities, due primarily to the immense popularity of
professional and collegiate sports. Sports gambling is
followed by parimutuel gambling mostly on horseraces,
illegal lotteries,and illegal casino gambling, in that
order.

MR. HUNTERTON: Agent Storey, at this point
I would like to interrupt your testimony.

Mr. Chairman, we have a videotape of an
illegal sports bookmaking operation in progress. Mr.
Storey will narrate as the tape comes up. Two of the
monitors are pointed toward the Commission, one towards
the audience.

Wouid you go ahead, Mr. Storey?

MR. STOREY: fThe videotape depicts an
illegal sports operation in the Northeast with
organized crime connections. There are a total of six
telephones in use, five of which are visible. The
sixth one is at the end of the table at the bottom of
the screen. The main phone in the center contains a
32-number speed dial memory, facilitating easy access
to other bookmakers and associates turoughout the
country. The five remaining phones are connected to a

main number in a rollover system, where the next
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available individual takes the incoming call, The
individuals seated take the bets, fill out a form in
duplicate, and place them on the other side of the table
in front of them. Another individual puts the orders
under the timeclock to record the time and the date.

The orders are separated into two stacks and
subsequently used for accounting purposes. In addition,
the telephone calls are tape-recorded by the bookmakers
in case of disagreements.

There is reason to believe this particular
operation was taking in approximately one million
dollars and laying off one million dollars per week.

It is customary for the bookie to receive a percentage
of the action, perhaps 10 percent. 8o in this case the
bookmaker might well earn $100,000 per week plus any
winnings on the games themselves, The individuals
seated follow certain guidelines or betting lines which
are posted on the wall in front of them. The person in
charge monitors the action taken so as not to take too
many bets in one game on the same team.

MR. HUNTERTON: Mr. Chairman, because this
tape is from a case that is not yet concluded, we have
blacked out the faces of the sports writers there.

Agent Storey, would you call this typical of

89

.t




i
i

S L S T

LCN gambling-related activity in the Northeastern
United States?

MR, STOREY: Yes. This could be considered
a typical example of the problem we are faced with on a
day-to-day basis.

MR. HUNTERTON: Would you continue now,
please.

MR. STOREY: Addressing the sports betting
problem as it relates to collegiate and professional
athletics: To interdict the influence organized crime
figures and bookmakers have on professional and
collegiate sports, the Director of the FBI and the
Administrator of the Drug Enforcement Administration
authorized a program in November 1982 whereby teams of
specially trained FBI and DEA agents would make
awareness presentations to professional sports teams.

The FBI's BIXBE sports bribery investigation
involved point shaving of three games in the 1978-1979
basketball season of Boston College. Investigation
determined that two players werz involved and had
received $2,000 plus cocaine for their involvement to
fix the games. This investigation has resulteé in the
coitviction of one player who was sentenced to ten years

in custody of the Attorney General, Three additional
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subjects in this investigation were also convicted and
received substantial sentences.

Investigation was initiated concerning a
National Football League quarterback who was involved
in an extensive gambling habit and being extorted by
gamblers. The athlete came to the FBI as a direct
result of presentations provided to his team while he
was in college and admitted his involvement. This
investigation resulted in the conviction of three
subjects who were sentenced to probation and fines.

The player was suspended by the National Football
League for illegal gambling.

Thege investigations are cited as having
impacted greatly on professional sports and have served
to demonstrate the significant problems addressed in
the FBI/DEA presentations.

Regarding Atlantic City, the legalization of
casino gambling in Atlantic City required the FBI to

increase our agent resources in that area.

Prior to the expansion of Atlantic City, the FBI had
determined that within the State of New Jersey, eight

LCN families were represented. They are the Bonanno,
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Brung, Bufalino Colombe, DeCavalcante, Gambino,
Genovese, and Luchese families, With the exception of
the DeCavalcante and Bruno families, the leadership of
the other families is situated outside of New Jersey.
Wwith the legalization of casino gambling, the FBI has
determined that LCN activities in the Atlantic City
area are of a multistate and multifamily nature. 1In
addition to the presence of the eight LCN families
presently mentioned, some involvement from the families
11 Chicago and Kansas City has been identified. The
strength of the individual families' influence varies
considerably, with the New York Genovese Family
appearing dominant.

The LCN's influence extends to the
construction of casinos, hotel service businesses,
which the Chairman had mentioned earlier, junket
operations, restaurant employees, dealers, maids: and
other ancillary services. The common thread in
controlling these businesses is the LCN's influence in
the service-related industries and unions.

Finally, the principal objectives of the FBI's
organized crime program is to reach beyond the streets
to those who exercise power and control within the LCN

organization,
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In the last two years we have convicted
1,200 individuals in organized crime investigations,
0f that number, there have been significant convictions
in gambling and other illegal operations relating to
gambling.

Consistent with the priorities established
by the Department of Justice and FBI manpower and
resources, selective use of various techniques such as
Title III and undercover operations have been utilized-
by the FBI to penetrate the LCN-controlled gambling
operations. Numerous significant gambling
investigations have been worked by several of our field
offices within the past year which have uncovered LCN
involvement,

The FBI will continue to execute its
responsibilities in gambling investigations consistent
with priorities established by the Department of
Justice while maintaining the momentum achieved to date
in our continued attack on organized crime,

I thank you, Mr, Chairman and members of the
Commission, for allowing me the opportunity to address
the subject of illegal gambling., I hope I have been
able to provide investigation which may be of some

assistance to the Commission,
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CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Thank you, Mr. Storey.

MR. HUNTERTON: Agent Storey, two follow-up
questions on the tape excerpt, You identified that as
a sports wagering operation, correct?

MR. STOREY: VYes, sir.

MR, HUNTERTON: Were they taking action, if
you know, on all sports, pro, amateur, football,
basketball?

MR. STOREY: I believe it was all sports,
yes.

MR. HUNTERTON: And you also mentioned that
it was necessary for this operation to lay off, if you
will, not to get caught one-sided in any given game.
Again, without identifying the investigation or the
city, can you give us some idea of the geographical
spread of the cities involved in this layoff?

MR. STOREY: It was nationwide. They were
laying off across the country.

MR. HUNTERTON: You worked cases like this
before you became a supervisor, didn't you?

MR, STOREY: That's correct,

MR. HUNTERTON: If you could, could you

summarize for this Commission what you learned from the

bricks and now supervising and trying to wrestle with
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budget and manpower priorities about what are the
frustrations and rewards of working illegal gambling
cases in the organized crime field?

MR. STOREY: Well, one of the problems we
faced institutionally and also as an individual in
working these cases was that when we would get a
conviction in court, the sentences were very minimal,
We would conduct an electronic surveillance, for
example, of a particular bookmaker for a two~ or
three-month period and identify his entire operation,
both intrastate and interstate, We would then execute
search warrants, seize evidence, evaluate the evidence,
do follow-up investigation, go to a grand jury, the
case would be tr.ed, and a period of maybe eighteen
months would have been expended, Normally the
individual would receive a very minimal sentence, a
year or two, three years in jail at the most, and in a
lot of cases probation. So we saw a diminishing
returns problem., We were expending X number of dollars
of resources and we weren't getting our bang for the
buck. We weren't putting the top people in jail and we
weren't accomplishing anything., We had a lot of
numbers which looked good on paper but it doesn't solve

the problem.
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Upon the advent of the RICO statute in 1970
we then decided to focus our attention on the criminal
entexprise using the gambling violations as a predicate
offense to support the RICO indictment. By doing this,
when the person is convicted of RICO, the sentences are
much more substantial, because included in those
charges a lot of time is extortion and labor
racketeering, things along those lines,

So we have had to change our focus in the
direction and the way we operate because we weren't -
really accomplishing what we set out to do,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: May I ask a question, Mr.
Hunterton,

MR. HUNTERTON: Certainly, Mr. Chairman,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Do you have a manpower
problem in your unit?

MR. STOREY: Absolutely.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: And would you say a good
deal of that is caused by the emphasis on the drive
against drugs in the United States?

MR. STOREY¥: No, I don't -~ not totally, no,.
To some degree, but not totally.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Haven't you found from

your experlence -~ perhaps the other two gentlemen
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might have a response to it -- that the public is more
willing to tolerate gambling than it is the sale or
dealing in drugs?

MR. STOREY: I agree, Mr. Chairman, that is
correct.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: And it is rather
difficult to get the public excited so that it
understands that it is their dollar that is being
siphoned away in connection with gambling because it
doesn't come back as revenue to the United States
frequently?

MR. STOREY: Well, it is not only the public.
It is the entire society. It is, to some degree, the
law enforcement side, the community; it is the
judiciary. The sentences were never really that severe.
It is the probation, the parocle system. It is the
entire system, This problem can be neutralized if we
make the commitment to neutralize it. I don't know if
we have made that commitment.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Shall we hear from the
next witness, Mr., Hunterton?

MR. HUNTERTON: One more question, your
Honor, which I think will be important later in the day.

Agent Storey, in our next sequence of

67




{
;
H
k
{
3
b
i
t
|

5

|
i+

1
4
N
i

T

witnesses we are going to look at a Cuban organized
crime group involved in numbers or policy wagering as
opposed to sports bookmaking. In connection with that
and before we go to the next two witnesses, the
Commission would appreciate your observations on any
linkage or relationship between the LCN in New York and
Cuban organized crime groups.

MR. STOREY: Well, we have established
through recent investigations that there is a direct
linkage and an accommodation has been made by the LCN
relating to the Cuban organizations.

MR. HUNTERTON: Thank you. Mr, Harmon?

MR. HARMON: VYes, if we could narrow the
focus on the problem, Inspector DePierrxo, if you can
ever talk about New York City as a narrower focus.
What types of gambling does organized crime control in
New York City?

MR. DePIERRO: Illegal bookmaking, policy,
and illegal casinos,

MR. HARMON: Now drawing your attention to
the last one, casinog; and using the photograph,
perhaps, Exhibit Number 11, could you explain for the
Commission a typical operation of a casino run by La

Cosa Nostra?
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MR. DePIERRO: VYes, it is very similar to
the casinos in Atlantic City. You will find the same
type of equipment on a smaller scale, You will find
the roulette wheels, baccarat tables, blackjack tables,
crap tables, and it will be the same type gambling as
in Las Vegas and Atlantic City on a smaller scale,

MR, HARMON: 1In these casinos does La Cosa
Nostra provide other services to its gamblers aside
from merely taking their money, so to speak, in these
gambling games?

MR, DePIERRO: Yes. They have food and
drink, and they also have access to money from a loanshark
if you need it,

MR. HARMON: So your gambling may be
financed by the friendly loanshark who is either in the
room or in the next room?

MR. DePIERRO: Very often, yves.

MR, HARMON: Would you say that in the past
in New York City traditional organized crime, La Cosa
Nostra, had an exclusive hold on illegal policy
operations in New York City?

MR. DePIERRO: They did, yes.

MR. HARMON: And how about as of today, has

that evolved over time?

69




o S R MYLIRAS

MR. DePIERRO: Yes, it has. We have found
that in the last years other ethnic groups have taken a
greater interest in the illegal policy, and
particularly the Cubans,

MR. HARMON: So over the years you have seen
a gradual increase in the involvement of Cuban
organized crime in policy operations, is that correct,
sir?

MR. DePIERRO: Yes, we have.

MR. HARMCN: For how many years have you
personally worked in the field of organized crime
control insofar as gambling is concerned?

MR. DePIERRO: On and off since 1973.

MR. HARMON: Do you agree with Mr. Storey,
who is sitting right next to yow that there is a
current relationship between Cuban organized crime
elements and La Cosa Nostra when it comes to illegal
policy operation?

MR. DePIERRO: That is my feeling and other
people's, yes.

MR. HARMON: Could you describe your
understanding of the nature of that relationship?

MR. DePIERRO: Well, I don't believe that

the other ethnic groups could come into traditional
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organized crime areas without some kind of a monetary
agreement being reached. 1It's too lucrative. There
would have to be some kind of a problem resolved by the
traditional organized crime and the other ethnic groups.

MR. HARMON: Turning to the scope of illegal
and open policy operations in New York City, has the
Police Department recently conducted a survey, the idea
being to estimate how many policy operations are
operating in New York City?

MR. DePIERRO: Yes., We took a survey
recently, and this survey covared the openly blatant OIB
parlor-type gambling spots, those are storefronts where
illegal gambling is conducted and nothing else is
conducted therein, And we came up with 4,355 spots.

MR, HARMON: When you say OTB parlor-type
operations, do you mean to say that these gambling
locations do not operate behind a front of any kind?

MR. DePIERRO: Not in the least. They have
Plexiglas put there to guard themselves against theft
and problems. They have slots to pass money and
numbers back and forth., And they have odds posted all
over the building., It is nothing but gambling. There
is no doubt in anyone's mind what it is there for,

MR, HARMON: 1Is the New York City Police
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Department currently engaged in a crackdown on openly
operating policy locations?

MR. DePIERRO: Yes, we are.

MR. HARMON: What is the theory behind that,
Inspector DePierro?

MR. DePIERRO: The Police Commissioner's
theory was that these quality-of-life crimes, which are
gambling and narcotics, increase crime in the area
overall, and by going at a higher level we were not
affecting the lower level, the quality of life. So we
are directing our activities very much on the street
level to try to put these out of sight as much as
possible.

MR. HARMON: So is it correct that your
approach might complement what the FBI is doing?

MR. DePIERRO: I think, yes, I think it is
very close to what they are doing.

MR. HARMON: How many arrests in how many
locations have occurred as a result of this crackdown?

MR. DePIERRO: In the first quarter of 1985 we
made 1,626 arrests, in 1,072 locations.

MR. HARMON: The New York City Police
Department does not have the advantage of ihis

racketeering statute that Mr. Storey spoke about where

72



i
H
i
i
i
5

cases can be brought on a gambling basis as well as
other crimes, is that correct?

MR. DePIERRO: That's correct.

MR. HARMON: So that the New York City
Police Department must bring pure gambling cases, so to
speak?

MR. DePIERRO: That's correct.

MR. HARMON: To your knowledge, how many of
those people arrested have actually heen incarcerated
as a result of these arrests?

MR, DePIERRO: I don't know of any. There
may be one or two, but very, very few have gone to jail.

MR. HARMON: Could you explain the operation
of New York City's padlock law as another way maybe to
indirectly get at illegal policy operations?

MR, DePIERRO: Yes, In July of 1984 the
City Council of New York enacted a law which was
directed at gambling, narcotics, ABC -~ that is liquor
violations -~ and other quality~-of-life violations,
which would enable us to padlock a location that is
being used for these illegal activities, And the
theory is that if we make two arrests and get tw»
convictions within a year, followed up by one other

arrest to show that the violation is still continuing,
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they would have a hearing by the New York City Police
Department and we could and would padlock the premises
! so they couldn't be rented out to anyone else.
MR. HARMON: So that the building owner
would lnse the use of his premises for maybe a year?
MR. DePIERRO: That has been the effect. We
found that many of the people who are renting these

illegal storefronts are evicting the people rather than

stand to lose a year's rent.

MR. HARMON: Have you found that bookmaking
and policy operators now resort to the use of advanced
communications technology as a necessary part of their

business?

MR. DePIERRO: VYes, we have.

MR. HARMON: Could you describe that in

general terms, please?

MR. DePIERRO: Yes, Particularly the Cuban

policy operation, We find that they record most of
their bets on cassettes, and they don't rely on the old
traditional written records which we used to look for.
They call over the phone to another location and these

are recorded on cassettes, It makes it very difficult

to follow the pickup man which they don't use at this
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time.
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MR. HARMON: Have you found computers being
used to record bets?

MR, DePIERRO: In a wire room, Not a policy
operation, but a wire room, we have found computers,
yes.

MR, HARMON: Before I leave that, has that
posed any particular problem to law enforcement? Do
you use computers to record bets?

MR. DePIERRO: Yes, it is a problem. It is
very difficult to get into a computer without the code,
and it causes a problem for us, yes.

MR. HARMON: Drawing your attention to one
final issue before we turn to Lieutenant Gaugler, I
would like to direct your attention to the use of video
machines for illegal gaming purposes. Has the New York
City Police Department had any experience with these
illegal video machines used for gambling purposes?

MR. DePIERRO: Yes, we do make arrests for
these machines,

MR. HARMON: Was there a seizure made within
the last two months or so of a number of these machines?

MR. DePIERRO: Yes, in March of '85 we were

in an operation with New Jersey and we confiscated

approximately 142.
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MR. HARMON: Approximately 142 machines were
seized from what type of a gambling operation?

MR. DePIERRO: Most of them were taken fruom
policy spots, Cuban policy spots.

MR. HARMON: Were any of those machines
manufactured by a company known as the SMS Corxporation
from New Jersey?

MR. DePIERRO: Many of them were.

MR. HARMON: I would like to turn to you, if
I could, Lieutenant Gaugler, and ask you for the New
Jersey State Police experience with regard to video
machines used for illegal gaming purposes.

MR. GAUGLER: Yes, sir. Mr, Harmon, Mr.
Chairman, Commissioners --

MR. HARMON: If I may just interrupt you
before you get to say anything, Lieutenant Gaugler,

During the course of this tescimrry, Mr.
Chairman, there is an example of a seized machine to
the Commission's left, which will be used during the
course of Lieutenant Gaugler's testimony by way of
demonstration.

Please feel free, Lieutenant Gaugler, to
demonstrate this machine when you think it appropriate.

MR. GAUGLER: all right, sir.
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In 1983, the New Jersey State Police and the
Essex County Prosecutor's Office initiated an
investigation into the sale and use of illegal video
gambling devices that were proliferating in the State
of New Jersey.

Intelligence information that has been
developed as a result of previous raids on video
machines has revealed a potential from the use of such
devices for enormous illegal profit.

The original version of these illegal
electronic video gambling machines we commonly know as
"Joker~Poker." These video machines were banned for
placement in liguor licensed premises in the State of
New Jersey in March 1983 by the State Alcoholic
Beverage Control. The ABC deemed such machines, per se
gambling devices,as they were within the definition of
an illegal slot machine. Such devices may be used for
the purpose of playing for money or other valuable
consideration and, further, such devices lack
entertainment value as winning is determined by chance
other than skill. Notably, these machines allow the
insertion of multiple amounts of quarters; had an
accounting system utilizing meters; and were equipped

with a "knockoff" switch to clear winning credits,
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As the electronic state of the art developed,

these original "“Joker-Poker" machines, which are

manufactured by various companies throughout the

country, began to be replaced by video card games

incorporating an amusement mode, in addition to the
illegal gambling mode. Certain of these dual mode
machines were approved for use only as an amusement
device in liquor licensed premises. Approval of these
devices was premised upon factors such as the
incapability of the acceptance of multiple coins, the
accumulation of points rather than credits, and the
machine's lack of a means of retaining or erasing
credits without playing off the games.

The New Jersey State Police confiscated
examples of these illegal video poker machines in an
investigation which terminated in mid-1984. The
é illegal machines that were seized had been approved for
use as an amusement device only.

These machines were examined by experts and

found to have a second mode, which by pressing certain
buttons on the machine enabled the operator to change

the machine from the legal amusement mode into an

illegal gambling mode. The devices also had a

concealed bookkeeping system which was visually
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displayed after the insertion of a code, known only to
the vendor and sometimes the operator. This latter
feature allowed the owner of the machine to determine
how many winning hands the machine recorded as well as
how many credits were "knocked off." Thus, the owner
could verify how much was paid out to winning players.,

Credits were erased through the use of
either a code or on occasion by the use of a remote
controlled electronic device item similar in size and
shape to an electronic garage door opener, which when
pointed at the machine would erase the accumulated
credits after the winner was paid off.

Winning players were usually paid 25 cents
per "“knocked-off" credit.,

In 1984, a New Jersey State Police
undercover detective opened a video machine vending
business and began competing for locations in which to
place video machines, including video poker machines.
This investigation specifically'focused on the
proliferation of video devices capable of being
utilized for illegal gambling. Investigators have
determined that these video gambling machines are
capable of having dual modes, one for entertainment and

one for illegal gambling, which can be converted by the
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insertion of a secret code.

On March 25, 1985, the New Jersey State
Police and the Essex County Prosecutor's Office
conducted a large-scale raid which culminated an
eighteen-month undercover investigation, which employed
the use of various covert investigative techniques. As
a result of these raids, seventy persons were arrested

on a variety of charges: promoting gambling, theft by

: extortion, criminal usury, official misconduct,
possession of illegal gambling devices, and conspiracy.
E In addition to these arrests, over $90,000
! in cash, 10 vehicles, and over 400 illegal video
gambling machines were confiscated.

MR. HARMON: Now, Lieutenant Gaugler, among

{ those arrested, were there two persons by the name of

Ralph "Blackie" Napoli and Joseph Sodano?
MR. GAUGLER: Yes, there were, sir,

MR. HARMON: Mr. Chairman, on February 16,

1983, in hearings before the Senate Judiciary Committee,

on the subject of organized crime in America, Ralph

H
:
;
4
;

Napolil and Joseph Sodano were identified this way:
Ralph Napoli is a caporegime in the Bruno

Crime Family and an associate of Nicodemo Scarfo. In

1971, Napoli was ordered incarcerated along with
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Nicodemo Scarfo and the late Anthony Russo for refusing
to answer questions before the New Jersey State
Commission of Investigation. He was released several
years later when it became apparent that he would not
testify., Napoli has arrests for bookmaking,
maintaining a gambling resort and assault,

Joseph Sodano, a soldier in the Bruno Crime
Family, has a criminal record for bookmaking, lottery
and robbery. Moreover, he has been involved in
narcotics trafficking and was considered an enforcer
for Anthony Accetturo, a caporegime in the Luchese
Crime Family. Sodano was also a suspect in two murders.
He was arrested during June 1977 by the FBI for theft
from interstate shipment. Over a period of time Sodano
aligned himself with the Bruno family, whereupon he
conducted gambling activities in New York City.
Currently Sodano is subordinate to caporegime Ralph

"Blackie" Napoli.

Lieutenant Gaugler, are there uniform laws
prevailing among the various states concerning these
video gambling devices?

MR. GAUGLER: To my knowledge, sir, the
major law which controls the definition of a gambling

device has no uniformity from state to state. Most
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states have no ability to keep up with the ever-changing
electronic state-of-the-art video game. The dual mode
concept wherein a machine has a legal and an illegal
disquised mode further complicates legal definition of
such devices,

MR. HARMON: Before I ask you the final
question, would it be possible at this point to
demonstrate these several modes of the video ga&ing
machine?

MR. GAUGLER: Yes, sir. I am going to turn
the machine on and put it into the legal mode. The
legal mode, as it was approved, is supposed to give you
10,000 points, which would be reflected in the top
left-hand corner of the screen, Now, by inserting a
code, by the operator, it will change it to an illegal
gambling mode where in the top left-hand corner you will
see 1 point. Now, that is the insertion of multiple
guarters., #very time a player would place a guarter in,
he would get an additional point on the top left-hand
corner, which increases his odds should he get a
winning hand.

He has previously selected the game of what
they would call "Joker-Poker." It is like five~card

draw. This machine has the capability of having three
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types of games, something they call'blackjacK and"sure
shot. This particular game will be poker with a wild
joker should it pop up on the screen, where a player
can elect to, if at some point in the game he can even
play what they call high-~low "Joker-Poker" , where he
can play something similar to a game of acey deucey,
where you try to pick a card between the ace and the
deuce, He's got a pair of 5's so he will draw to the
pair of 5's and the ace -~ and hg lost.

He can pick four cards in this game. We

will try to get a winning game up so you can see what
happens when the cards are up.

MR. HUNTERTON: That is why they call it
gambling.

MR. GAUGLER: By the way, we have this

machine set at 100 percent payout. As you can see, we

are not getting 100 percent return on our money.

COMMISSIONER GUSTE: By 100 percent payout,

do you mean it is calculated to win every time?
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MR. GAUGLER: We can adjust the machine.
It depends on the operator. It is from 50 percent to
100 percent, depending on the amount of games he wants

someone to win when he first places.his machine to get
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the interest up, and then he will cut that figure back.
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COMMISSIONER GUSTE: Assuming that a player
does acquire a certain number of points, is he paid by
the machine itself as a matter of routine?

MR. GAUGLER: The machine has the capability
of replacement of a hopper, but the ones that we
confiscated in New Jersey didn't have hoppers. He
would be paid off by the person who was in control of
the machine, such as the bartender or the store owner.

MR. HARMON: Just how lucrative is illegal
gambling on video gaming machines?

MR. GAUGLER: The amount of moneys generated
from these type of illegal video gambling machines is
enormous, In a recently completed New Jersey State
Police investigation, in five machines alone, over
$500,000 in net profit was generated for the owner/
possessor in a l5-month period. 1If these machines
could not offer a winning cash payoff for accumulated
credits, the profit margin would never approach these
dimensions. Removal of the illegal gambling feature
results in the machine being a simple amusement device,
not any more attractive to the public than any other
video or pinball machine. The potential for cash
profit to the player clearly motivates more machine

usage and therefore a greater profit return for the
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machine possessor,

Available information suggests that illegal
video gambling devices are generating gambling activi’y
and profits which wexe formerly gained by the criminal
element from street-level illegal lottery, policy, and
bookmaking activity.

MR. HUNTERTON: We have a winner.

MR. GAUGLER: Now he is going to elect to
go what they call high-low. He's got the 7 in the
middle., He can push a button to the lefr or a button
to the right. If he goes left and he gets a card that
is lower -- or is that higher?

THE OPERATOR: It has to be lower than the 7.

MR. GAUGLER: It has to be lower than the 7.
He will double his bet. If he loses, he loses all of
his credit., He won that bet.

He is going to stand now, he is going to
convert the credits to the machine, and the points
should go up. Now he's got 1l. If he was playing at a
location, they would pay him 25 cents a credit. They
would then come over to the machine and they would
clear it, as opposed to playing the games off by the
insertion of a code. I don't know if you heard those

numbers rattle, but it was registering on a counter
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that they have inside, Now the machire is ba¢k and
ready for a new plaver.,

They have an accounting system in this
machine whereby when the vendor comes on his weekly
route, he can determine how much was paid out by the
machine possessor, whether it be the bartender or
whatever, by inserting his code, which is again a code
of his own making, into the machine, and it will
register an accounting system up on the screen., It is
very difficult to see, but there are various categories
there for how many hands were won and the machine is
all registered to show how much was paid out.

MR. HARMON: So if you assume that in some
cases organized crime is behind the placement of these
machines, this accounting feature would provide a way,
for example, for organized crime to keep honest the
storekeeper or the bar owner in which one of these
machines might be found; is that fair enough?

MR. GAUGLER: The only person who knows the
code is the person who owns the machine. Therefore, he
will know exactly how much was paid out. He has an
accounting record built into the system.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: This may be naive., Would

it be appropriate for the player to ask those in charge
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what the odds are that are being paid out?

MR. GAUGLER: If they told them, it would
probably not be the truth, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Are they asked ever?

MR. GAUGLER: I am not aware of it being
asked, but it probably would be somewhere along the
line,

MR. HUNTERTON: Agent Storey, could we end
the video game segment, if you will, with the Federal
perspective, the Bureau's perspective, on the extent
to which this is an up~and-coming problem?

MR, STOREY: I did not read that orally but
that is part of my statement. 1 didn't address it. It
is an up-and-coming problem., We have had similar
problems in Philadelphia. We looked at it in our
interstate transportation gambling device statute. We
also looked at it in the ITAR gambling statute. But
under the federal statutes it is not clearly defined
that it is a gambling device in transport &n interstate
device. But we Were looking at it from other aspects.
In Philadelphia we had the gambling going on with some
police protection, and as you are aware we conducted
those investigations accordingly. §So we are looking

into it.
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MR. HUNTERTON: But would you agree that, as
Lieutenant Gaugler said, the actual status of the
device at the time it crosses over state lines and
comes in some federal jurisdiction is a pretty slippery
thing for enforcement agents and prosecutors to get a
handle on?

MR. STOREY: That is why it is set up that
way, to circumvent the federal statutes.

MR. HUNTERTON: Mr. Chairman, these
witnesses are prepared to answer Further questions from
the Commission.

COMMISSIONER GUSTE: I don't address this to
any particular member of the panel, but if one would
care to answer, I would be pleased to have an answer.
How is it in New York City that so many people are
using the illegal lottery when you have a legal lottery?
What is the advantage of the illegal lottery?

MR. DePIERRO: It is a difficult problem to
answer. Actually it is my opinion one reason is that
there are no taxes involved. I think if you win the
New York's lottery you are liable to pay taxes., Aalso,
it is very convenient to run to. These stores are up
and down the street. You just walk out of your house

and you run in and out., And they have single action in
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bolitas, which I don't think -- I am not sure if the
legal lottery has yet, where they can play on# number
at a time. They will play a number, they will run out,
they will come back. They will play the second number.
So they get a lot more action than they would in the
legal lottery.

MR. HUNTERTON: Inspector DePierro, if I
might follow up on Commissioner Guste's question, do
you know the relative size of the payoff between the
New York State lottery and the Cuban number runs?

MR. DePIERRO: I can tell you the illegal
numbers; I don't know the legal numbers. It runs
anywhere between 500 and 600 to 1 on the straight
action. And the odds really are about 200 to 1, so
there is a good edge for them.

MR. HUNTERTON: I believe, Commissioner,
that in most states, I am not sure about New York, but
one of the problems is that in most states the
legalized lottery pays off at a lower rate than the
illegal one.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Mr. Storey, you
commented earlier with respect to what I take it is a
change in policy by the FBI in its intensity or its

activity in investigating gambling. Do I take it that
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that change in policy was because of the lack of
responise by the federal judiciary in the sentencing
area?

MR. STOREY: Not totally. The change in
policy ~-~ it is not really a change in policy. It was
a change in the way we incorporated our gambling
investigations into our overall thrust. Up until 1970
we did not have a RICO statute. Prior to that tim; we
had the ITAR gambling statutes and the interstate
transmission of wagering information, et cetera. So we
worked a gambling case in its purest sense. We just
went after the bookmaker.

We did not f£ind that the sentences they were
receiving were commensurate with the type of individual
we were trying to bring into court, There were other
problems as well, We did not really break up the
operation. We would take a bookmakexr out, and the next
day he was replaced by somebody else. Within hours
they were back on the street, The entire network
itself was not disrupted enough, So from a monetary
standpoint we did not hurt them in the pocketbook.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: But wasn't this due in
part to the lenient sentences, in your view?

MR. STOREY: To some degree, in our view,
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the sentences could have been more severe, and I think

it may have been because of the fact that we were only

charging them with gambling and not other crimes as

well and not bringing out their total criminal activity.
COMMISSIONER MILLER: Was recognition given

in the sentencing process as to the organized crime

connection?

MR. STOREY: I can't speak for every case.

I can only speak about cases 1 was personally involved

'in., We did conduct surveys and found that

across-the-hoard we were not really receiving the
sentences we had hoped for. But also I have to state
that some of the people we were bringing into court
were not the leaders of organized crime., They were the
bookmakers, the people that actually ran the operation,
similar to the wire room you saw here. We felt that
that was not what we should be doing. We should not be
bringing in the bookmakers but rather the people that
controlled them. And by using the RICO statute we were
able to do that.

So it is not entirely the lenient sentences;
it was the type of people that were in court,

COMMISSIONER MILLER: On the other hand, a

stiff sentence to those bookmakers would have increased
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the likelihood of cooperation with the federal
government in investigating organized crime figures;
would that be correct?

MR. STOREY: Absolutely, We did not develop
many informant or cooperative witnesses through arrest
and conviction, Most of our informants came from
competitors rather than from people who were convicted.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: If the federal
judiciary should change its view or its philosophy and
its sentencing policy in this area, would that have an
effect upon perhaps a change in FBI policy?

MR. STOREY: I do not think so. Our thrust
will continue to be to go after the criminal
enterprises rather than individuals. We find that by
taking down a criminal enterprise we are much more
effective rather than taking them out one by one. That
is what we were doing before.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: But if you got stiff
gsentences in that area, you would be able to put
together those continuing criminal enterprises in RICO
cases in a much better fashion, wouldn't that be true?

MR. STOREY: Well, certainly stiffer
sentences would help, but we are getting stiffer

sentences now utilizing the RICO statute. We could do

92



e g e i e o e S o g i i o G ST

ey R T

both.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: And your policies
today fairly well limit your activities in the gambling
area except in those very large investigations, RICO-
type cases,

MR. STOREY: RICO-type cases and those
involving significant organized crime figures where the
gross receipts are very high for a particular area, or
when you have police or public corruption. We limit
ourselves to those three areas and stay away from the
individual bookmaker per se.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Anybody else?

COMMISSIONER McBRIDE: This question is to
any of the three panelists. I take it you heard
Professor Skolnick's testimony earlier. Building on

that, I think basically what he is saying is: Accept
the social reality that th2re is going to be gambling,
that people are going to play the numbers illegally or
the lottery legally or are going to go to legal casinos
in Atlantic City or illegal casinos like the one on the
chart. Recognizing that, the best thing perhaps is to
conduct these experiments with proper controls, make

them competitive, Take, for example, the New York
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State lottery. If you have the ease of convenient
location, freedom from income tax, comparable odds =--
in other words, make it competitive.

If you look at it from the perspective that
your objective is to dry up the sources of income from
organized crime, organized crime presence, the allied
corruption, do you think it makes any sense to do that?
Take any form of gambling, the lottery or the casinos,
say. Mr. Storey, would you like to try that?

* MR, STOREY: No, I don't personally agree
with Mr. Skolnick in that area., I think this problem
can be neutralized., .We have to make it more difficult
for organizéd crime to penetrate the casino industry,
to control sports bookmaking, make a more diligent law
enforcement effort by applying additional resources to
the problem, We know how to solve a lot of these
problems. What we need are more people to do it,

COMMISSIONER MC,BRIDE: He is, I. think,
suggesting that proper controls are necessary, but I
think here in New York City, for example -- I don't
know where that casino was or how recent it was -- but
let's say there were casino operations in Long Island,
Staten Island, and Yonkers, legal; under the kind of

controls that minimize mob presence, minimize the
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opportunities for skimming and allied corruption, do
you think that that is a rational policy response to
the problem of illegal casinos?

MR. DePIERRO: Commissioner, if I may answer,
we do have legal horse betting in New ¥Ynrk, we do have
OTB parlors which are legal, and we have made quite a
few arrests of bookmakers right in OTB parlors where
the betting is legal,

COMMISSIONER M¢BRIDE: Why is that, do you
think?

MR, DePIERRO: I couldn't answer that
guestion.

COMMISSIONER McBRIDE: The odds are the same.
Is it the tax question, the taxability?

MR. DePIERRO: I couldn't answer that
question,

MR. STOREY: And there is credit involved
also in a lot of cases, where the bettor has a line of
credit rather than putting the money on the table.

Mr. Skolnick made some excellent points
about the lack of organized crime influence in some
casinos today as compared to twenty years ago. We have
made an awiul lot of positive improvements in that area.

However, when we have continued to expand the casinos
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opinion, organized crime that many more opportunities
to expand as well. And the problem keeps expanding

rather than controlling it,.

COMMISSIONER McBRIDE: Thank you very much,

Mr. Storey, Inspector DePierro.

COMMISSIONER DINTINO: Inspector DePierro,
you earlier made mention that you had 1,600 arrests, I
believe, so far this year, or whatever, and you stated

that there was something like one or two people that

{ were sentenced to jail, you believed, out of that group?
MR. DePIERRO: If there were that many. I

am not sure.

COMMISSIONER DINTINO: In the past ten or

fifteen years, we in New Jersey have found that a

number of ocur bookmakers have relocated to New York
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City.
MR. DePIERRO: We have noticed that,

Commissioner. (Laughter)

POUE - TUPA NSNS W

! COMMISSIONER DINTINO: Still utilizing a
Jersey telephone so that they don't have to pay a toll
call, 1In your opinion, is the reason being that they
received lighter or no sentences in New York City

versus New Jersey?
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MR. DePIERRO: VYes, it is my opinion.

COMMISSIONER DINTINO: Then one question to
Ayent Stort '. In your statement, I notice that you say
it is conservatively estimated that more than one-half
of organized crime revenues come from illegal gambling
activities, and then you go on to say that because of
this they control public officials, various levels of
government, and they use it in their other lucrative
enterprises, labor racketeering and this, that and the
other. Also, going through your statement and your
statistics, it is obvious to me that the FBI has
assigned a low priority to gambling investigations.

I just wondered, if the FBI is to be
effective in combating ~rganized crime and half of
their revenues are coming from illegal gambling, it
would seem to me there should be a more concentrated
effort towards their gambling enterprises. Do you
agree or disagree with that?

MR. STOREY: Well, let me just clarify it
for you, Commissioner, We are approaching the problem
differently. Yes, organizaed crime is -~ half of their
income is through illegal gambling operations. Take
one particular LCN family in New York. They may

control sports betting in the Bronx. Rather than us
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going after the bookmaker in the Bronx, we are going
after the entire family. We are not taking out a
bookmaker, we are taking out that entire LCN family.
And one of the predicate offenses in that RICO statute,
the violation that we will charge that family with, is
gambling.

We find that approach is much more effective
in neutralizing that LCN family rather than taking out
the individual bookmaker the way we did fifteen years
ago. When we took out a bookmaker on 115th Street that
wo;ked for the Genovese Family, the head of the
Genovege Family was not arrested. Today he is being
arrested. That is the difference.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: May I add to what
Commissioner Dintino asked you, Inspector, 1Is one of
the reasons for the inundation of these gambling cases
in New York the condition of the criminal courts in New
York?

MR, DePIERRO: I wouldn't put the blame all
on the courts. I think if we did get more time for
these people, it would help a lot, but I wouldn't put
the blame on the courts,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Where would you put it?

Have you got jails?
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MR. DePIERRO: Excuse me?

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Have you got jails?

MR. DePIBERRO: VYes, but I understa?d they
are overcrowded, too. I think it is a large problem,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Then the answer is, you
don't have jails.

How many arrests are there made during the
course of a year, have you any idea?

) MR. DePIERRO: I don't have the figures with
me, but it is staggering.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Well, about four or five
years ago we made a study, and there were agproximately
300,000 arrests in felony cases in the City of New York
serviced by, in the first {nstance, the criminal court:
fixing of bail, et cetera. We have a vicious oycle here. We
have an inundation of the court system simply because
the system is on the verge of being devastated by the
inundation of cases. So these people from New Jersey
realize that the problem works to their benefit and
come to New York.

Do you have any solution to that? How can
we ship them back to where they came from? (Laughter)

MR. DePIERRO: Commissioner, if I had the

solution, I wouldn't be sitting here.
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CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Well, would you talk to
your Commissioner and tell him that an important
official from New Jersey raised the question, who is on
the Commission, and I think he ought Lo give some
thought as to how we can send our customers back to
where they came from,

MR. DePIERRO: Perhaps giving them more time
would help somewhat, yes.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: All right. Will you go
right ahead with your next witnesses? Thank you very
much, gentlemen,

(The witnesses were excused.)

MR. HARMON: Mr. Chairman, the Commission's
mandate from the President requires the Commission to
define the nature of emerging organized crime groups as
well as traditional organized crime known as La Cosa
Nostra. The Commission is also required to develop in-
depth information on the sources and amounts of
organized crime's income and to develop in-depth
information on the participants in those organized
crime networks.

In furtherance of that mandate, and to
further narrow the focus of the issue, the staff has

developed a profile of a Cuban organized crime group
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known as "The Corporation," the criminal activities of
which include arson and murder in support of their
gambling operations.

With that in mind, Mr. Chairman, I would ask
Commission Investigator Anthony Lombardi to present to
the Commission a profile of The Corporation.

Prior to joining the staff of the Commission,
Investigator Lombardi was a senior special agent with
the Internal Revenue Service,for whom he has worked for
a period of over fifteen years.

You may proceed, Investigator Lombardi.

Mr,. Marshal, would you please swear all of
the witnesses jointly.

JOSEPH PELLICONE, JAMES LEGGETT, and ANTHONY
LOMBARDI
called as witnesses and, having been first duly sworn,
were examined and testified as follows:

MR. LOMBARDI: Mr. Chairman, Commissioners,
members of the Commission, I am about to present a
profile of Jose Miguel Battle, Sr.

A comprehensive review of the files of
various federal, international, state, and local law
enforcement agencies, and independent investigation by

the staff of the Commission, clearly reveals the
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existence of a tightly knit, well financed, armed, and
powerful group of Cuban racketeers known as "The
Corporation." These individuals are sometimes CIA
trained and anti-Castro sympathizers that had taken
part in the Bay of Pigs invasion.

As has been the case with other criminal
groups, including the Mafia, the Japanese Yakuza, the
Chinese Triad Societies,and Vietnamese gangs, The
Corporation traces its roots to violent, political
upheaval in other countries. When these counter-
government movements were no longer able to influence
decisively political events in their countries, some of
their members turned to crime as a way of life,
capitalizing on longstanding organizational ties and
methods of operation, Many continue to fly the "false
flag" of liberation as a means to mask their purely
criminal activities and to attract new recruits. The
Mafia no longer uses this pretext upon which to operate,
having become so completely assimilated as to be
considered the preeminent "All-American" crime group.

The emergence of Cuban organized crime with
its power centered in the areas of gambling and
narcotics began shortly after the unsuccessful Bay of

Pigs attempt to wrestle back their country from Fidel
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Castro's control,

Mr. Chairman, members of the Commission, the
evidence which you are about to hear represents the
first effort to develop a national picture of the Cuban
organized crime group known as The Corporation,

As you will hear, the gambling operations of
The Corporation begin with storefront policy spots run
by policy writers,

I refer you to our chart of the Battle
organization so you can get an idea of the
extengsiveness of The Corporation,

As you see, the daily take is transported by
pickup men to super-pickup men who, in turn, deliver to
corporate headquarters in New York City. From an
average weekly take <l 97,00?, each spot generates
$3,000 to $5,000 in profits, Seized records reflect a
weekly gross take of over $2 million for The
Corporation. From this information, which will be
presented in more detail, we extrapolate that The
Corporation earns a minimum annual net profit of §45
million from New York City gambling operations alone.
This net profit has been estimated as high as $100
million.,

The Corporation, as its name implies, has a
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chairman of the board driving this expanding
organization by means of violence, and accommodation
with the Mafia to corner a large segment of the numbers
market in the New York City and Northern New Jersey
areas, The chairman of the board, the person who
controls this nationwide Cuban organized crime
operation, is Jose Miguel Battle, Sr., also known as "The
Godfather,"

Jose Miguel Battle, Sr., was born in Cuba on
September 4, 1929, and is known also as Jose Miguel
Batle -~ spelled with one "t" -- Vargas, the name he
used in Cuba; Miguel Blasquez, Rafael Franco Tesano,
"Don Miguel," "El Gordo," and a series of other names
which will not be disclosed here so as to preserve
future options for law enforcement,

Battle, a former Havana vice cop, also
served in Batlsta's army, was a member of Brigade 2506,
the Bay of Pigs landing group. During Batjsta's reign,
Cuban gambling casinos were influenced by U. S.
Underworld figures,including Meyer Lansky and Santo
Trafficante, who is the head of a La Cosa Nostra Family
in Tampa. After the failure of the invasion force,
Battle was made a lieutenant in the U.S. Army by an Act

of Congress, then returned to the Miami area and became
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deeply involved in the establishment of this country's
first Cuban~controlled gambling operation., His
organization has grown steadily with the migration of
Cubans to other areas of the country. Battle is noted
for his organizational genius and toughness, but his
empire expanded initially, mainly through police and
political corruption., Battle moved to Union City, New
Jersey, in the late 1960s and established his gambling
operation in the Northeast, with the help of
traditional organized crime members, such as Joseph
"Bayonne Joe" Zicarelli and Santo Trafficante. Battle
soon became the Cuban Godfather mainly by taking over
existing policy operations by means of homicides and
arsons,

It is believed that in the early 1970s the
Battle gambling operation established a strong foothold
in the New York City area. Policy operations sprung up
in almost every Cuban or Spanish bar or bodega. The
success of the Cuban gambling operations did not go
unnoticed by elements of La Cosa Nostra operating in
Northern New Jersey. The result was a kind of mutual
assistance pact between "The Corporation" and La Cosa
Nostra whereby "The Corporation" paid a percentage of

the action and laid off some bets with Mafia.
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Zicarelli and James Napoli, identified by the New York
City Police Department as a "Capo" in the Genovese
Crime Family, were instrumental in negotiating this
alliance.

In New York, as in New Jersey, a "marriage"
had to be made with the already established organized
crime faction, the Mafia. You will hear that there
have been reported meetings between Battle and various
members of New York organized crime families of La Cosa
Nostra such as Carmine and Sonny Lombardozzi, and that’
as in New Jersey, "The Corporation" pays tribute to the
Mafia in New York City.

Major legal problems confronted Battle as
early as 1970, when he was indicted by a federal grand
jury for interstate and foreign travel in aid of a
racketeering enterprise, Battle pled guilty and, after
being sentenced to eighteen months on these charges,
fled the country and resettled in Madrid, Spain, under
an assumed name. While in Madrid, Battle lived in
luxurious circumstances and was seen at social events
in the Venczuelan embassy. Although in hiding, Battle
continued to control his New York/New Jersey gambling
operation by employing a secret courier service which

entered the United States via Miami or Canada.
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When he attempted to return to the United
States in September of 1972, by way of Costa Rica,
Battle was arrested by the FBI at the Miami Airxport on
the outstanding fugitive warrant, and eventually was to
serve thirteen of the eighteen-month criminal sentence
previously imposed.

In December of 1974, Battle was again
arrested, this time by the Union City Police Department,
for carrying a concealed weapon, At this time there
were serious corruption allegations concerning this
department, The Union City Mayor at that time was
William Musto who was later convicted on federal
extortion charges, Battle's weapons case was
transferred to the federal court system.

The guns on the table are representative of
the guns that Battle had in his possession when he was
arrested.

The federal gun charges against Battle were
put on hold several times, pending the outcome of the
Florida State indictment charging Battle with first
degree murder and solicitation and conapiracy to commit
murder, These charges stemmed from the Miami homicide
of Ernest Torres, a former trusted ally of Battle.

On December 16, 1977, Battle was found
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guilty by a jury on the solicitation and conspiracy to
murder charges, was sentenced to thirty years in jail,
but the conviction was reversed on appeal., On June 19,
1978, after serving eighteen months, Battle was tried
in federal court on the weapons charxges. He was found
guilty and sentenced to an additional four years, to
run concurrent with the state time. Battle then pled
guilty to conspiracy to commit murder, was given credit
for time served and was placed on a 33-month probation.

From an analysis of records obtained from
the States of Florida, New Jersey and New York, it is
evident that Jose Miguel Battle has been involved in
criminal activity dating back to 1969. Although these
are the facts, Batktle managed to escape any serious
imprisonment, serving only a total of 31 months in jail;
thirteen months for the 1970 gambling conviction, and
approximately eighteen months on the conspiracy to
murder.

The Corporation has evolved to the point
that it has a firm foothold in legitimate businesses.
Although Battle himself has a conservative amount of
property in his own name, he controls a criminal
enterprise whereby he is able to steer the course of

millions of dollars in disclosed as well as hidden
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The Corporation which Battle directs must be
conservatively valued at an estimated several hundred
million dollars, with an endless, substantial cash
inflow. Among these assets are the Union Management
and Mortgage Company, the Union Finance Company, the
Union Financial Research Company, Inc., Union Travel
and Tours; and El Zapotal Realty Incorporated, all
located in South Florida. The Commission staff has
obtained information that the Battle "Corporation" owns
and/or controls interests in domestic and foreign
financial institutions, and has large real estate
holdings.

Several key members of The Corporation moved
to Florida in 1982, Battle and his associate, Abraham
Rydz, applied for Florida driver's licenses one day
apart on April 21 and 22, 1982. During the seven-month
period from August 31, 1982 through March 30, 1983,
Battle, his wife, son and Rydz purchased various real
estate for $1,115,000, of which $805,000 was paid in
cash,

The charts on my right reflect these
transactions and display photographs of some of these

properties,
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The Commission staff has also been able to
develop evidence of a courier system of money transfer
from New York and other areas of the country to The
Corporation in South Florida. On at least two
documented occasions, shipments of moneys intended for
Battle in Florida were seized by enforcement
authorities,

For example, you will hear a witness testify
that on April 8, 1983, Jose Battle Jr., the subject's
son, and Abraham Rydz, a trusted Battle associate, were
detained by the New York Port Authority Police after
resisting the search of carry-on baggage while boarding
a domestic flight to Miami. After some resistance,
both individuals submitted their luggage for inspection,
wherein $439,000 in U.S. currency was found wrapped in
gift boxes. Both Battle Jr., and Rydz denied ownership
in the currency, and only would indicate that they were
vice presidents of Union Financial Research Inc. in
Miami, Florida.

On the table before you, you will see the
extent of the cash being transferred to Miami.

In another similar instance, on December 3,
1984, the British Customs authorities detained several

key Corporation associates, including Humwmberto Davila
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Torres, at London's Heathrow Airport. They were found

to be in possession of $450,000 in U,.,S. currency.

i Thelr itinerary included Nassau, Bahamas; Geneva,

Switzerland; Malaga and Madrid, Spain; and then a

return to Miami,

Personal property, businesses and cash
seized from members and associates of The Corporation
; totaling approximately $43 million, as reflected on
that chart, give some small measure of the economic

power of "The Corporation,”

} Money laundering.

; You will also hear from witnesses that The
Corporation has laundered millions of dollars in
illegal revenues through financial institutions and the
Puerto Rico Lottery.

MR. HARMON: Before we get to that, Agent

Lombardi, and with the permission of the Chairman,
Deputy Counsel Thomas McNulty will direct certain
questions to Police Officer Joseph Pellicone from the
! New York Port Authority Police.

MR. McNULTY: Officer Pellicone, will you

state your name and occupation, please?

MR. PELLICONE: Joseph Pellicone, Port

Authority police officer.
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MR. McNULTY: How long have you been
employed with the Port Authority of New York?

MR. PELLICONE: Approximately five years,

MR. McNULTY: Were you on duty in that
capacity on April 8 of 1983 at John F. Kennedy Airport?

MR. PELLICONE: Yes, sir, I was.

MR. McNULTY: On that date did you have
occasion to investigate a large sum of money that
passengers had attempted to carry on board a domestic
Eastern Air Lines flight from New York to Miami?

MR. PELLICONE: Yes, sir, I did.

MR. McNULTY: And how large was the sum of
money?

MR. PELLITONE: It was $439,540.

MR, McNULTY: 1Is this what you see in front
of you on the table here?

MR. PELLICONE: Yes,

MR. McNULTY: How long did it take you to
count that money?

MR. PELLICONE: It took six officers
approximately three hours to count.

MR. McNULTY: Is there anything particularly
unusual about how the money was concealed or packaged?

MR. PELLICONE: Yes, sir. Being that it was
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the month of April, I was curious about the fact that
all the packages were wrapped as Christmas presents,
(Laughter)

MR. McNULTY: Officer Pellicone, did you
guestion the passengers who attempted to carry this
money aboard?

MR. PELLICONE: VYes, sir, I did.

MR. McNULTY: And what were the names of
the passengers and their home addresses?

MR. PELIICONE: Jose Battle Jr. and Abraham
Rydz, both from Key Biscayne, Florida,

MR, McNULTY: Did Jose Battle Jr. and Mr.
Rydz indicate their ownership of the money?

MR. PELLICONE: No, sir.

MR. McNULTY: What did they tell you about
the money?

MR. PELLICONE: I asked them if the money
belonged to them. They said it did not. I asked them
who the money belonged to. They said they did not know.

I asked them what they were doing with the money. They
said they were going to deliver it to a person in Miami,
I asked for the name of that person, and they said they
did not know, only to a person that would fit a certain

description,
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MR. McNULTY: Were Mr. Battle and Mr. Rydz
observed doing anything suspicious after you stopped
them for questioning?

MR. PELLICONE: VYes, sir. After we informed
them that we were going to return them to the police
building for investigation, Jose Battle Jr. discarded
and tore, I believe it was, two index cards and a sheet
of graph paper into an ashtray.

MR, McNULTY: Did you attempt to reconstruct
the sheets that had been so torn?

MR. PELLICONE: VYes, sir, we did,

MR. McNULTY: If you look at Hearing Exhibit
17 over here, is this exhibit an accurate copy of the
sheet that Mr. Battle and Mr. Rydz attempted to dispose
of in JFK Airport?

MR. PELLICONE: Yes, sir, it is.

MR. HARMON: The record should reflect the
witness is referring here to Hearing Exhibit No. 17.

Drawing your attention, Investigator
Lombardi, to the money laundering activities of The
Corporation, you may continue with your statement,

MR. LOMBARDI: You will also hear from
witnesses that The Corporation has laundered millions

of dollars in illegal revenues through financial
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institutions and the Puerto Rican Lottery.

The Commission staff has been able to
determine that the Battle group exerts a strong
influence and control over several financial
institutions in this country, as well as several
alleged foreign-based entities. The laundering of
illegal funds is facilitated by the complex web created
by The Corporation's financial holdings in mortgage and
lending companies and through real estate ventures.

You will hear an insider tell The
Corporation's policy operation and explain how a
financial institution was the recipient of huge amounts
of illegal moneys of which The Corporation had to
dispose,

Records of the Department of Agriculture
disclosed that redemptions of food stamps from bodegas
in Northern New Jersey by this financial institution,
the largest redeemer of food stamps in the United
States, were in excess of $10 million in one year. In
contrast, Citibank, with over 250 branches in New York
City, collected $7 million to $8 million in food stamp
redemptions in one year,

MR, HARMON: Investigator Lombardi, you have

heard Professor Skolnick say something like: The
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lottery appears to have only remote connections to
organized crime.

Have you found evidence of a relationship
between The Corporation and the Puerto Rico lottery?

MR. LOMBARDI: Yes, we have. We have found
that ~-

MR. HARMON: Continue with your statement
and describe that relationship.

MR, LOMBARDI: The Corporation used an
apparently unique technique in its continued attempt to
launder moneys. This techriyue involved the
utilization of the Puerto Rican lottery. Basically,
The Corporation would let it be known that they were
willing to purchase winning Puerto Ricap lottery
tickets, for an amount greater than the amount provided
by the winning ticket.

This technique surfaced in a government
undercover operation relating to federal money
laundering offenses called Operation Greenback - Puerto
Rico. This was a cooperative effort by the Internal
Revenue Service, the U.S. Customs Service, and the Drug
Enforcement Administration.

on June 6, 1985, sixteen persons were

arrested in Puerto Rico., Eleven of these individuals
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were present or former bank officials. IRS Special
Agent Manuel Ramirez, from Albuquerque, New Mexico,
played a pivotal undercover role in the operation.

On May 10, 1984, at the Palace Hotel, Isla

Verde, Puerto Rico, Special Agent Ramirez was
introduced by another IRS undercover agent, Guillerino
Rivera Guerrero, to whom I shall refer as Rivera.

Agent Ramirez told Rivera, who was a branch manager of
the Western Federal Savings Bank, that he was from New
Mexico and was in Puerto Rico to launder drug money for
various narcotics traffickers.

Rivera then described other members of the
bank's money laundering clientele, one of whom was
known as the "Padrino" or Godfather. Rivera told Agent
Ramirez that he works with two or three numbers
racketeers that are involved in illegal sports betting
on horse races. According to Rivera, one of his
clients is a "Padrino" in the numbers racket, who also
deals in drugs and travels a lot to New York. The
"Padrino" launders his money in Puerto Rico and takes
it to Costa Rica.

Rivera also explained how to launder money
through the Puerto Rico lottery. Rivera told Agent

Ramirez that the first step in laundering through the
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Puerto Rico lottery was to buy a winning ticket with
the main objective being to move the money. Rivera
offered to buy a winning ticket for Agent Ramirez and
; stated that he, Rivera, had a man named Ramon, who had
several lottery agencies, On June 10, 1984, Rivera
i told Ramon, the insider man, that he wanted to buy a
winning ticket worth over $100,000.

From information received from various law
: enforcement agencies, and from a witness that you are
about to hear, the staff has been able to uncover
evidence of similar activities in other parts of the
5 country. For instance, in Texas, Oregon, Illinois and

Florida, there have been instances where The

Corporation has been documented to have purchased

! winning lottery tickets for far in excess of their

winning value, This technique is used to provide a

legitimate source of income for The Corporation members,

; who in turn redeem the "purchased" ticket, These
: individuals who have no other means of legitimate

income are happy to pay the federal tax on their

winnings, simply to legitimatize their expenditures.
1 A confidential source of a law enforcement
agency, independent of Operation Greenback - Puerto

Rico and the witness about to testify here, who has
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personally met Jose Battle, also explained in further
detail the way in which The Corporation launders money
through the Puerto Rican lottery.

The source has been told that all Puerto
Rican lottery tickets sold in the United States are
controlled by an organized crime group known to the
Cuban community as The Corporation, At one time, the
lottery tickets were transported from Puerto Rico to
Miami via commercial airlines. However, in recent
years the tickets have been transported by special
plane that leaves Puerto Rico for Miaml on a weekly
basis loaded with a large volume of tickets. The
Corporation makes approximately $14 million per week
from the lottery sales., The lottery tickets are sold
primarily in the cities of Miami, New York, and Los
Angeles., However, other cities such as Houston and
Tampa also have access to the tickets.

When you become a distributor for the
lottery tickets for The Corporation, The Corporation
gives you detailed instructions as to what to do if you
have a large winner. For example, if a bettor from
Tampa should win a $125,000 prize, the Tampa
distributor was to immediately notify The Corporation.

The Corporation would then contact the individual and
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offer the individual $150,000 for that ticket. The
winner is told that if he travels to Puerto Rico to
collect the $125,000, then reports will have to be made
to the Internal Revenue Service and the individual will
only get a small portion of the winning ticket. The
winners always take the $150,000 offer. The
Corporation then takes the ticket to Puerto Rico,
cashes the ticket and pays the IRS the full amount of
tax due. The source advised that this is the way that
The Corporation launders its money. The Corporation
has so much money that its members are willing to pay
twice as much in illegal money in order to obtain
legitimate money.

The effect of The Corporation's use of the
Puerto Rico lottery was to legitimize illegal gambling
and narcotics proceeds as winnings from state
sanctioned legalized gambling. It is interesting to
note that inguiry to the Puerto Rican Lottery by PCOC
investigators disclosed no systematic means of
identifying lottery winners, nor did lottery officials
know where to find checks issued to big winners.

MR. HARMON: Let me interrupt you here for a
minute. At this point we would like to ask some

questions of Detective Leggett,
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Can you state your name, please?

MR. LEGGETT: James Leggett.

MR. HARMON: And your occupation?

MR. LEGGETT: I am a police officer of the
Metro Dade Police Department in Miami. I am assigned to
the Organized Crime Bureau Lottery Investigation Squad.

MR. HARMON: 1In that capacity have you had
occasion to investigate the activities of the Cuban
gambling ring known as The Corporation?

MR. LEGGETT: I have.

MR. HARMON: Did you have occasion to
investigate the seizure made at the Miami International
Airport on August 9 of 19827

MR. LEGGETT: I did.

MR. HARMON: And who was involved in the
seizure and how much property was seized?

MR. LEGGETT: There was a Puerto Rican
gentlemen by the name of Jose Pabon who was functioning
as courier transporting the new lottery tickets and
cash back and forth between Miami and Puerto Rico. He
was stopped by some border patrol people and became
extremely nervous and denied possession of his luggage,
ete. Gave us permission to look in. They called us

and we responded, and among the items that he was
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carrying in the suitcase was §16,020 in U,S. currency,
$15,676 in winning tickets he was taking back to Puerto
Rico to cash in. And there was $7,400 in unendorsed
checks from various people and in locations throughout
the United States.

MR. HARMON: Do your intelligence sources
indicate that this property was the gambling receipts
of The Corporation?

MR. LEGGETT: Records seized along with the
contraband items and statements by Mr. Pabon and
intelligence also verifies that that was receipts from
illegal gambling.

MR. HARMON: And did the unendorsed checks
seized indicate that this is a nationwide operation?

MR. LEGGETT: It does. There were checks
there from Miami, Orlando, Tampa, Houston, Denver,
Chicago and Portland, Oregon, as I recall.

MR, HARMON: Do your intelligence sources
indicate for whom Mr, Pabon was working at the time of
his seizure?

MR. LEGGETT: I was able to determine at the
time of Mr. Pabon's arrest who his immediate supervisor
and contact was in Miami and later on through follow-up

investigation. I linked Mr., Battle to the Pabon
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supervisor,

MR. HARMON: Mr, Lombardi, you may conclude
your statement.

MR. LOMBARDI: Mr, Chairman and members of
the Commission, I would like to conclude with some
preliminary conclusions about the conditions which
permit monopolistic criminal enterprises to develop, at
least insofar as The Corpdration is concerned.

Competition is easily identified, as
storefront gambling operations do business openly. 1In
contrast, narcotics traffickers operate in secret and
feed a large market which is available to virtually all
comers.

Once identified, competition is eliminated
by violence or else gambling markets allocated by
agreement with the Mafia.

Lack of consistent law enforcement pressure
nationwide permitted the expansion of The Corporation's
business under centralized control.

Centralized, reliable and quick
communication, so essential to the success of any
gambling operation, created a need for centralized
control.

In the view of the Commission staff, Jose M.
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Battle, although known to some police authorities, has
managed to slide through the net of law enforcement
mainly because of his ability to operate behind the
veil of The Corporation. We hope that in exposing The
Corporation, law enforcement might be able to bring its
chairman to justice and cause the dissolution of The
Corporation. Thank you.

MR, HARMON: Mr. Chairman, these witnesses
are available for questions from the Commission.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: I have none.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Of course I have a
question, two questions, and whoever wants to answer,
please.,

What are you talking about checks from
around the country? Who pays off gambling in checks,
and what are these checks you are talking about?

MR, LEGGETT: These checks were checks
apparently from players or low-level writers that they
had submitted back to and funneled into Mr. Pabon who
was transferring them to Puerto Rico to cash there
along with the winning tickets which would be cashed in,
and the U.S, currency. Mr. Pabon told us that the
checks, the winning tickets, and the cash were payment

for the tickets that he had delivered.
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COMMISSIONER ROWAN: The second question is:
You have said, Mr. Lombardi, that The Corporation owns
or controls interest in domestic and foreign financial
institutions, Can you tell us what kind of
institutions these are, whether they are publicly held,
what effect The Corporation's control of these
institutions has on other people, on normal civilians?

MR. LOMBARDI: The Commission staff has the
identities of these institutions, but for various
reasons we will not be able to disclose them at this
point,

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Are they banks?

MR. LOMBARDI: Yes, they are.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Are they publicly held
or are these close corporations?

MR. LOMBARDI: Both.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: And I assume that that
information is going to be turned over to law
enforcement?

MR. LOMBARDI: Yes, it will,

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: We've had enough trouble
with our banks recently. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: There are no more

questions. Thank you very much, gentlemen. We
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appreciate your presence,

Does that complete the testimony for the
morning?

MR. HARMON: Yes, Mr., Chairman.
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CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Very well. We stand in

recess until 1:15.

(Luncheon recess)
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AFTERNOON SESS;ON
1:25 p.m.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: The afternoon session
will come to order. Proceed.

MR. HARMON: Mr. Chairman, the next witness
is a person who has been inside the organization known
as The Corporation over a period of several years.

With your permission, Mr. Chairman, I shall place into
the record an affidavit from a New York City homicide
detective named Richard Califas, which concludes in
part: "I know the identity of the witness who is about
to testify before the President's Commission., Over a
period of time he has furnished information which I
have never found to be inaccurate and which I have
found to be corroborated from other sources and my
experience, His life would clearly be in dariger if his
identity were ever to be disclosed.," Detective Kalafus
goes on to describe certain homicide incidents in which
Jose Battle played a role.

Also, immediately prior to the testimony of
this witness we have a brief videotape of a gambling
raid on a Cuban policy operation located in Florida.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Do you want to read that

for us?
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MR. HARMON: It is describing a search
warrant, your Honor. I can't make out the lettering
either, but the scene we are about to see are Metro
Dade Department of Law Enforcement officials from
Florida attempting to enter a Cuban numbers location.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Accompanied by the news
cameras?

MR. HARMON: Yes.

(Videotape showed)

MR, HARMON: Will the next witness be
brought out, please.

In view of these circumstances and
background, Mr. Chairman, the identity of this witness
will not be disclosed, We will need an interpreter for
this witness, Mr. Chairman,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Where is the interpreter?

MR. HARMON: She is coming right out.

Would the marshal please swear the witness,

{The witness was duly sworn,)

MR. HARMON: And I would ask you to please
swear the interpreter.

(The interpreter was duly sworn.)

MR, HARMON: Mr. Chairman, this interpreter

has for many years been accepted as an interpreter in
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the courts of the United States. 1In view of the
special circumstances here, I have asked the
interpreter, in the event that the witness should say
something which could tend to identify him, to draw
that to the witness' attention so that he might
paraphrase his answer in some other way.

Mr. Witness, I would like to begin by
directing some questions to you., I would ask that the
translator speak into the microphone after the witness
responds.

Mr. Witness, since 1980, for over three
years, have you been a member of an organization known
as The Corporation?

THE WITNESS: Yes.,

MR. HARMON: How is that organization, The
Corporation, known in the Cuban community?

THE WITNESS: The Cuban Mafia.

MR. HARMON: Does The Corporation have a

leader?

THE WITNESS: Yes,

MR. HARMON: What is his name?

THE WITNESS: Jose Miguel Battle.

MR. HARMON: Is he also known by the name
Padrino?
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THE WITNESS: Godfather,

MR. HARMON: Did you begin as a policy
writer in The Corporation?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: Did you move up from there?

THE WITNESS: VYes.

MR. HARMON: Have you personally met Jose
Battle?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: Was he surrounded with
bodyguards at that time?

THE WITNESS: Yes,

MR. HARMON: At the time you first met Jose
Battle, did he give you any instructions on what to do
once you began to work for The Corporation?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: Would you explain those
instructions to the Commission, please?

THE WITNESS: Keep my eyes open, keep my
eyes open, not steal, Keep my eyes open and keep my
mouth shut,

MR. HARMON: Mr, Witness, I draw your
attention to this chart entitled "The Corporation."

Have you been interviewed by investigators from the
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President's Commission prior to your appearance today?

THE WITNESS: Yes,

MR, HARMON: and does that chart, Hearing
Exhibit 16, accurately reflect the organization of The
Corporation as you know it?

THE WITNESS: 'Yes.

MR. HARMON: Can any non—Cubaq move to the
top of The Corporation?

THE WITNESS: No.

MR. HARMON: I draw your attention to the
left side of the chart, Mr. Witness, at the bottom of
which is a notation entitled "policy writer." From the
bottom up, could you explain the method of operation of
The Corporation insofar as policy operations are
concerned?

THE WITNESS: You mean how does The
Corporation operate?

MR. HARMON: Yes.

THE WITNESS: In the numbers?

MR. HARMON: Yes.

THE WITNESS: 1It's paper for money. You
write down the numbers. Then the pickup man comes by
and picks them up., Then the super~pickup man comes by.

And then the money is taken to the head office.

181

PR SER Wl



A il ST

!
i
!
d

i
{
{

N

i

B R

MR. HARMON: Does The Corporation have a
head office in New York City?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: Have you been to the head
office?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: What is tiie icle and purpose of
the head office?

THE WITNESS: What is the role of the head
of fice? When the money is taken there, it is counted.

MR. HARMON: And the money is delivered
there by the super-pickup men, is that correct?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: 1Is the head office located at
one location all of the time?

THE WITNESS: No.

MR, HARMON: Explain that, please,

THE WITNESS: Every month they change
location,

MR. HARMON: How many locations do they use
as a matter of practice?

THE WITNESS: Four.,.

MR. HARMON: And these four locations are

rotated on a monthly basis, is that right, sir?
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THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: Once the money is taken to the
head office of The Corporation in New York City, who is
the money then delivered to?

THE WITNESS: Annulfo delivers it to Nene,

MR. HARMON: And are these people who are
identified on the chart which we have talked about
already?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: At any time while youlwere in
the head office did you also see there Abraham Rydz,
known by the name of Palaco, as well as Jose Battle Jr.,
known by the name Miguelito?

THE WITNESS: Yes.,

MR. HARMON: What was going on in the head
office when you saw both Palaco and Miguelito there?

THE WITNESS: Money was being counted,

MR. HARMON: In the locations run by The
Corporation in New York, are bets accepted in
denominations of one, five, ten and 20 dollar bills?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: Once the money is taken to the
head office, what happens with the physical cash?

THE WITNESS: Annulfo takes the money to
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Nene,

MR. HARMON: And what about the one-dollar
bills?

THE WITNESS: It is taken to a bank, to
banks.

MR. HARMON: And whose responsibility is
that to take the one-~dollar bills to banks?

THE WITNESS: Lalo,

MR. HARMON: Does Lalo have another job as
the enforcer within the corporation?

THE WITNESS: Uh huh. He pays the lawyers,
and he is the one who takes care of everything when
somebody is going to be killed.

MR. HARMON: Well, does The Corporation then
have attorneys, corporate attorneys, so to speak?

THE WITNESS: Three.

MR, HARMON: 1If two members of The
Corporation get arrested, for example, who decides
which one will plead guilty so that the other one might
go free?

THE WITNESS: Lalo.

MR, HARMON: Lalo makes that decision?

THE WITNESS: Uh huh,

MR. HARMON: And then who tells the attorney
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who will plead guilty so that another member of The
Corporation might go free?

THE WITNESS: Lalo,

MR. HARMON: What if a member of The
Corporation got his own attorney and did not use one
that Lalo designated?

THE WITNESS: He cannot get his own.

MR. HARMON: Who puts up money for
attorneys' fees for members of The Corporation who are
arrested?

THE WITNESS: Annulfo.

MR. HARMON: Are the attorneys paid in cash?

THE WITNESS: Cash,

MR. HARMON: Who puts up the bail when
members of The Corporation are arrested.

THE WITNESS: Well, the money comes out from
annulfo, and it is Lalo, the one who can post the bail
or he sends somebody else.

MR. HARMON: But The Corporation puts up
bail for the members of The Corporation who are ‘
arrested; is that right, sir?

THE WITNESS: Yes, The Corporation.,

MR. HARMON: Now, about how many people work

for the corporation in New York City?
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THE WITNESS: About 2,500,

MR. HARMON: Where else does The Corporation
have people working for it?

THE WITNESS: In Miami, everywhere.

MR. HARMON: How about Northern New Jersey?

THE WITNESS: Uh huh,

MR. HARMON: At the time it took place, were
you aware of a seizure of cash which took place at JFK
Airport, cash which was taken from Miguelito and Palaco?

THE WITNESS: Yes.,

MR. HARMON: Was that spoken about at the
head office?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: If you look at this diagram,
Hearing Exhibit 17, I would ask you if, before walking
into this room this afternoon, you have had an
opportunity to see that before.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: If you assume, Mr, Witness,
that at the time of the seizure of that cash that
Miguelito attempted to throw away that piece of paper,
would you consider that an incriminating piece of paper?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: Would you explain why, please.
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THE WITNESS: Because if the police were to
catch you with something like that, it's bad, so you
throw it away.

MR, HARMON: Why would it be bad to get
caught with that piece of paper?

THE WITNESS: Because it's a tally sheet.

MR. McNULTY: Is that the weekly tally sheet
for The Corporation in New York?

THE WITNESS: Weekly.

MR, HARMON: What is done with the weekly
tally sheet for The Corporation in New York?

THE WITNESS: That tally sheet is taken to
Jose Miguel,

MR. HARMON: The Godfather.

THE WITNESS: The Godfather.

MR. HARMOW: What gets put on the tally
sheet?

THE WITNESS: It's money.

MR. HARMON: Does Annulfo play any role in
the preparation of this tally sheet?

THE WITNESS: Yes. He is the manager.

MR. HARMON: The manager of The Corporation?

THE WITNESS: Yes.,

MR. HARMON: Does this document, Hearing
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Exhibit 17, represent the net weekly profit for The
Corporation, to your understanding, in New York City?

THE WITNESS: Yes

MR. HARMON: Now, we talk about a
corporation, Mr, Witness. Do people actually own
shares in this corporation?

THE WITNESS: The people who come in are
the ones who buy the shares,

MR. HARMON: So people actually do own
shares in The Corporation, correct?

THE WITNESS: Yes,

MR. HARMON: Do you scc on that piece of
paper, Hearing Exhibit 17, the names of any corporate
shareholders?

THE WITNESS: Yes,

MR. HARMON: Could you identify them, plcase?

THE WITNESS: Latino, Gatto and Nelson.

MR. HARMON: What does it actually mean If
you own shares in The Corporation?

THE WITNESS: Well, it means that they are
new because they have just purchased a small spot,

MR, HARMON: So that if you are a
shareholder, that means that you actually own policy

spots, is that right?
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THE WITNESS: Uh huh,

MR. HARMON: I might add, Mr, Chairman, as
far as we know this corporation is not traded on the
New York Stock Exchange or any other.

Would you please describe the physical
appearance of the gambling locations operated by The
Corporation?

THE WITNESS: well, it's a place, let's say
it is like a place like this, or like an OTB parlo:.

MR. HARMON: How many days a week is one of
these locations open?

THE WITHESS: Seven days.

MR. HARMON: How many hours a day?

THE WITNESS: From 7 to 10:30,

MR. HARMON: Approximately what would you
say is the average daily take in the spots that you are
familiar with?

THE WITNESS: They get about between $7,000
and $12,000 a day.

MR. HARMON: Does The Corporation have a
standing rule as to how much of that The Corporation
wants to make by way of profit?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: What is that figure?
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THE WITNESS: 65 percent,

MR. HARMON: What types of gambling can a
person engage in by walking into one of the gambling
locations run by The Corporation?

THE WITNESS: $1, $5, S10.

MR. HARMON: What types of games can they
play?

THE WITNESS: On the numbers, baseball, you
can bet on the baseball games; the Santo Domingo
lottery; the Puerto Rico lottery; also all kinds of
bets,

MR. HARMON: And how about slot machines and
video gaming machines?

THE WITNESS: And slot machines.

MR, HARMON: Does The Corporation actually
sell Puerto Rican lottery tickets?

THE WITNESS: Yes.,

MR. HARMON: wWho is responsible for
procuring machines, slots and video games, for The
Corporation?

THE WITNESS: Lalo.

MR. HARMON: Now, why, Mr. Witness, do
people place debts and gamble with the corporation and

not with the New York lottery, in your opinion?
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THE WITNESS:

Because The Corporation pays

you 600 to 1, and you don't pay taxes.

MR. HARMON:

financing company?

THE WITNESS:

MR. HARMON:

that financing company?

who start

money and

with it?

have just

they have

THE WITNESS:

MR. HARMON:

THE WITNESS:

small,

MR. HARMON:

what does the

THE WITNESS:

started.

MR. HARMON:

THE WITNESS:

oney.

MR. HARMON:

Does The Corporation also own a

Yes.

To your knowledge, where is

In Miami.

What is its purpose?

They gather money for those

And what do they do with that

financing company have to do

They use it for those who

It is a way to ==

So that when they get out,

So the financing company is

used to invest money then, is that right?

THE WITNESS:

MR. HARMON:

THE WITNESS:

Uh huh.
For members of The Corporation,

Yes.
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MR. HARMON: 1 would like to draw your
attention to a person whose name is mentioned up in
that chart in the upper right-hand corner, Isleno,
Humberto Davila Torres. To your knowledge he is not a
member of The Corporation, is that correct?

THE WITNESS: No.

MR. HARMON: Was there trouble between
Isleno and Jose Miguel Battle at the end of 19827

THE WITNESS: Yes,

MR. HARMON: What was the nature of that
trouble?

THE WITNESS: Well, because they were
setting up spots at a distance of less than two blocks.

MR. HARMON: So Isleno's operation was
moving within two blocks of The Corporation's spots, is
that right?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: How was the problem resolved?

THE WITNESS: Well, the problem was
resolved after Jose and he had a discussion. And then
subsequently he was selling to him the worst spots.

MR. HARMON: So Jos= Battle was selling to
Isleno the worst gambling spots, is that right?

THE WITNESS: Yes.
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MR. HARMON: How else does The Corporation
handle competition from other numbers operators?

THE WITNESS: They burn down their stores
and they kill people.

MR. HARMON: Whose responsibility is that,
to make sure that the competition is driven out of
business?

THE WITNESS: Lalo's,

MR. HARMON: Does Lalo personally kill
people, to your knowledge?

THE WITNESS: No., He sends the Marielitos.

MR, HARMON: Who are the Marielitos?

THE WITNESS: Oh, heavens, all the ones who
just came in.

MR. HARMON: Have any people been killed as
a resuit of these arsons and burnouts of competitors?

THE WITNESS: Ahout 10, 15 people.

MR, HARMON: And how many people has The
Corporation had killed in the New York City area, to
your knowledge, aside from arsons?

THE WITNESS: About twenty people,

MR. HARMON: A final few questions, Mr.
Witness,

How can The Corporation operate in a city
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like New York where the Mafia has such an influence?

THE WITNESS: They send envelopes every
week.

MR. HARMON: Who sends envelopes to whom?

THE WITNESS: The Corporation sends them.

MR. HARMON: To the Mafia:?

THE WITNESS: Gh huh.

MR. HARMON: So is it correct, then, that
the Mafia has given The Corporation a kind of license
to operate in New York City?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: In your experience, Mr. Witness
are the members of The Corporation concerned about law
enforcement catching them and putting them in jail?

THE WITNESS: Well, I don't think so.

MR. HARMON: I have no further questions,
Mr, Chairman. This witness is prepared to answer
questions from the Commission.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: Are there any questions?

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Judge, could we just
clarify that the description of the organization given
is not limited to New York, I gather?

THE WITNESS: I really don't know what to

answer.
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COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Jose Battle Sr., El
Padrino, has national power?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: And is that true for
Miguelito and Abraham Rydz, El Palaco?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MR. HARMON: Then what happens when we get
down to the people who are marked in red, Lalo and some
of the others?

THE WITNESS: Jose Miguel sends him,

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: 1Is Lalo located in New
York and has control over New York?

THE WITNESS: Yes, New York.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: So there would be
somebody else like Lalo in other cities where the
corporation operates?

THE WITNESS: In every place where they
operate.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Do you know how many
cities The Corporation operates in?

THE WITNESS: The Bronx, Manhattan,
Brooklyn, New Jersey, and Miami.

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Anything on the West

Coast?
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THE WITNESS: That I don't know anything
about.,

COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: All right, Call your
next witness.

MR. HARMON: Thank you, Mr, Witness. And,
madam interpreter, thank you also,

(The witness was excused.)

MR. HUNTERTON: Would Sergéant Herion, Mark
Vogel and Judy Dobkin come forward, please.

Marshal, would you swear the three witnesses.

DONALD HERION, MARK VOGEL, and JUDY DOBKIN
were called as witnesses and, having been first duly
sworn, were examined and testified as follows:

MR. HUNTERTON: Mr. Chairman, Sergeant
Herion, Donald Herion, of the Chicago Police Department
is seated to the Commission's far right at the table.
He has been a member of the Chicago Police Department
for thirty years and assigned to the Organized Crime
Vice Control Section, Gambling Unit, for twenty of
those years, both as a working detective and now as a
supervising detective sergeant. He has a thorough
understanding of Chicago's organized crime group and

its control over illegal gambling in and around Chicago,
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Seated at the center of the table is Mark
Vogel, a graduate of Northeastern Law School in Boston,

who has been with the Department of Justice for

% thirteen years, the last five of those as a special

attorney with the Organized Crime Strike PForce, Chicago

i office. He was one of the prosecutors in the

E prosecution of Roy Williams, president of the

; International Brotherhood of Teamsters; Chicago

racketeer Joey "The Clown" Lombardo, and the late allen

Dorfman, He will also describe a prosecution in which

: he took part, in which he was the lead attorney against

Frank Balistrieri the head of the Milwaukee LCN family,
At the Commission's far left at the table is

Judith Dobkin, a graduate of George Washington Law and

a holder of a master's in law from Georgetown, who has
been with the Department of Justice for eight years and,
§ like Mr. Vogel, with the Chicago Strike Force for five.
: She will describe United States v. DiVarco, a gambling

i prosecution which, to anyone's recollection, produced
the longest prison sentence ever handed out in the
federal court, She has other experience in this area,

; having prosecuted race-fixing cases.

This panel has been assembled, like this

morning's panel was assembled, to show the connection
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between gambling and organized c¢rime. This panel is
here to address two important points for this
Commission,

The first is the popular notion that illegal
gambling is an entirely victimless and nonviolent crime,
and this panel is here to demonstrate that that is not
in fact so.

This panel is here for the second purpose,
on the good-news front, of showing that while this is a
crime which generally receives very short prison terms,
there can, with the effective investigation and
prosecution of well-targeted cases, result lengthy
prison terms.

Sergeant Herion, we will begin with you,
What is "The Cutfit" in Chicago?

MR, HERION: "“The Outfit" is organized crime,
the Mob or the Mafia.

MR. HUNTERTON: And what is "The Outfit's"
involvement in illegal gambling?

MR, HERION: They control all illegal
gambling in Chicago by means of a street tax. That is
a fee paid by the bookmakers for the privilege of

operating in Chicago.

MR. HUNTERTON: Has this street tax changed
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over the years?

MR, HERION: Yes, it has.

MR. HUNTERTON: In what way?

MR. HERION: They have instituted a
fifty-fifty partnership in which The Outfit and the
bookmaker are partners. The bookmaker supplies his
bettors and The Outfit supplies wire vooms, clerks and
telephones. Of course, The Outfit has an edge in this
business prorwsttion, because they learn the volume of
business that the bookmaker has. They keep all the
gambling records. And eventually they will become
friendly with some of the bookmaker's bettors. They
may pick on some bettors that are having a losing week
and they will offer them a proposition to put in some
phony bets for them. The bettor then will split the
profits with the clerk that he talks to on the
telephone, Usually they go along with this. Actually
the money is going to The Outfit. And eventually the
bookmaker is drained of his finances and will probably
have to go out of business, And that is when the
friendly Outfit comes in and takes over the whole
operation.

MR. HUNTERTON: The bookmakers in Chicago

were obviously not pleased with this. What is the
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bookmakers' current feeling about The Qutfit's increase
in street tax and this imposed fifty-fifty partnership?

MR. HERION: Well, there has been a lot of
dissension and a lot of it has led to violence in
Chicago.

MR, HUNTERTON: Sergeant Herion, we will
return to that question of violence in just a few
moments, but first I would like you to address the
gquestion of the numbers involved, the dollar volume
involved in illegal gambling.

As you know, there are wide-ranging national
estimates of the illegal gambling market for this
country as a whole, and in particular the sports
bookmaking market, If we take 37 to 40 billion as one
of the figures that has been proposed for the entire
gsize of the sports bookmaking, the illegal sports
bookmaking market in the United States, how would you
see Chicago fitting in there and does that national
figure make sense from your perspective in Chicago?

MR. HERION: That figure scems perfectly
reasonable, That I am sure doesn't include any numbers
or policy or horse betting. It is strictly sports
betting. We had a bookmaker in Chicago until recently

he was murdered. I recall the year before he was
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murdered he probably grossed $140 million. He ran
seven or eight wire rooms. On one occasion in one wire
room we ralded we confiscated over $400,000 in wagers
alone from that one room with that one clerk. And he
told me personally -~ I arrested nim on several
occasions, and he bragged to me on one occasion where
he netted over $200,000 on one football game.

MR. HUNTERTON: Mr, Chairman, we have some
examples in the exhibit mounted to the Commission's
left of Hal Smith's residence and money seized in
gambling raids. Mr. Smith lived fairly well?

MR. HERION: Yes, he did., His home is up
on the left, Tnat is his office on the vight, I
believe. And the money was confiscated by the IRS on a
gambling raid where they saized $600,000 in a gym bag
in his garage in cash,

MR. HUNTERTON: How does this business of
sports bookmaking work, recognizing that there are lots
of different variations and permutations on how it is
done? Would you just give us a thumbnail sketch of
illegal wagering on football or basketball?

MR, HERION: Yes. They operate on 11 to 12
basis., The 11 to 10 is called vigorish or juice. We

call it juice in Chicago. For instance, if a bettor
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would make a $100 bet on a football game, if he lost he
would have to pay the bookmaker $110, But that doesn't
necessarily mean he makes $10 or 10 percent on every
bet. He has a lot of operating costs, such as salaries,
telephone rentals, lawyer's fees. My understanding of
it is, from talking to a lot of bookmakers we have
arrested, that if a bookmaker nets 1 percent of the
gross handle he has in one year, he had a very
successful operation,

Hal Smith was a bookmaker and a gambler. He
would change his own point spreads on certain games,
He didn't feel that -~ in his mind that is where the
gambling came in, He took chances and he took certain
positions on games. And he was very successful at it.
He made a lot of money. His probable net profit would
be from 2 to 3 percent of the $140 million, which would
give you approximately thres or four million dollars in
one year,

The bookmakers are all protesting the street
tax. It has gotten a little bit out of hand lately.

MR. HUNTERTON: 1Is this an additional
operating cost beyond salaries and phones and lawyer's
fees?

MR. HERION: Yes, it is.
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MR. HUNTERTON: So that comes out of the
bookmakers?

MR. HERION: Right,

MR. HUNTERTON: And if you are not as good
as Hal Smith, you are operating on a pretty thin margin,
right?

MR, HERION: That's right.

MR, HUNTERTON: 1 percent for net profit.

THE WITNESS: Right.

MR. HUNTERTON: How is The Outfit responding
to this dissension among the bockmakers about paying
this street tax and the fifty-fifty proposition?

MR. HERION: They usually give them three
choices. It is pay, qguit-or die, one or the other.

MR, HUNTERTON: Now, let's discuss the
seriousness of the problem of illegal gambling and the
pay, quit or die ultimatum in Chicago. Starting in
1983 with the attempted assassination of Mr. Eto, who
testified at our Chicago hearing, would you tell us
what has happened with respect to violence related to
illegal bookmaking in Chicago?

MR. HERION: So far this year, we have had
three major bookmakers murdered in Chicago: Lenny

Yaras, Hal sSmith and Chuckie English.
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MR. HUNTERTON: This is Mr. Yaras to our
left now (indicating)?

MR. HERION: Yes, it is., That is before
and after. Ken Eto was a very trusted associate of the
Mob in Chicago, and he operated and ran all of the
Bolita operations, which is a Spanish numbers game, in
Chicago. He had been arrested on gambling charges, and
the outfit seemed to think that he was going to
cooperate with the authorities. So, lo and behold, two
of his friends took him for a ride.

MR. HUNTERTON: The proverbial Chicago ride?

MR. HERION: Yes, That's very common,
apparently. John Gattuso and Jay Campise, who is
involved in the Joseph DiVarco gambling case -- you
will hear about that later -- had Mr. Eto in a car.

And Mr., Gattuso shot Eto in the back of the head three
times. They left him for dead, but Mr. Eto survived
and lived to tell the story. He identified Gattuso and
Campise, and they were subsequently arrested for this.
And of course they were released on bail., And a few
months later they both joined hands in the trunk of
Campise's car. Their bodies were badly mutilated.

That is for botching up the Eto attempted murder.

MR. HUNTERTON: We are about halfway
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through 1985, How many bookmaking-related homicides
have you had in Chicago in the first half of this year?

MR, HERION: They are the three I mentioned
I am positive of,

MR. HUNTERTON: Yaras, Smith and English?

MR. HERION: Right.,

MR. HUNTERTON: Hal Smith you have already
described as a bookmaker, Mr. Yaras you have referred
to. Would you tell us a little bit about Mr. English?

MR. HERION: Mr. English was the gambling
overseer for Sam Giacana, who is a former Mafia boss in
Chicago. He himself was murdered, 1 believe it was
1975, He had been in semi-retirement of late, and he
was very vocal about the current street tax in relation
to bookmakers. Apparently he met the disfavor of Joe
Fcrriola, who is reportedly now the new Mafia boss in
Chicago. And he was shot to death once between the
eyes, as you can see in that photograph up there, in
Elmwood Park, Illinois,

MR, HUNTERTON: And that happened to Mr,
English although he had withdrawn from the bookmaking
business, is that correct?

MR. HERION: That's correct.

MR. HUNTERTON: Sergeant Herion, apart from
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the homicides, which are clearly a problem in and of
themselves, what are some of the problems that you have
experienced over the last twenty years, both problems
that don't seem to change or go away and some of the
newar problems related to the regulation of organized
crime cases in the illegal bookmaking area?

MR, HERION: Well, as of late there's a lot
of problems, but a jurisdictional problem enters into
our enforcement efforts. A lot of wire rooms are going
out in suburban areas. And when they get out there,
they use call-forwarding service. They bounce their
telephone numbers around two or three times. It makes
it very difficult to locate them. We have kicked in
doors and found vacant apartments. They also have
cordless telephones. The source phone, which would be
the number the bettor would call would, may be in one
apartment and the bookmaker could be actually sitting
anywhere witlusn a xndius of a thousand feet. You just can't trace
those types of phones, The phone company can't even do
it.

and then we have beepers. They seem to be
getting into beepers where the bettors call the
bookmaker who has a beeper, the bookmaker calls the

bettors back and takes all their action. He is very
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mobile and very difficult to locate.

MR. HUNTERTON: The exhibit entitled "Armored
Chicago Wire Rooms" it is a little difficult for the
commissioners to see. If Mr, Leonard would point from
upper left to upper right and then come back across the

bottom,

Sergzant Herion, would you describe what you
found in this bookmaking raid?

MR. HERION: 1In this particular photograph
this was the rear door which is barricaded by 2-by-4's
at an abandoned warehouse. On the door, once you got
in there, there was a burglar alarm setup which would
warn the two gentlemen we found inside a vault. It had
a 4-inch steel door and all the walls were concrete,
including the ceiling. It would be a good place to go
in case of atomic attack or something, but these people
were in here. And of course inside we found an 8-foot
table, four telephones, lighter fluid, soluble paper,
flash paper, whatever else you can think of., And they
of course destroyed all the wagers before they would
even come out of the wire room. So that is another
problem. In Chicago or 1llinois we have to retrieve
the evidence. 1If we don't get the bets, we don't get

any convictions., We don't have the services of
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#lectronic eavesdropping devices or --
MR. HUNTERTON: You can't do wiretapping?
MR. HERION: No, sir, we cannot,
; MR. HUNTERTON: So what you are saying is,
unless you get those records, you can make an arrest

but it is going to be kicked out?

133 MR. HERION: It is automatically discharged.
MR. HUNTERTON: You have mentioned water
| soluble paper and flash paper. Would you show the
i Commissioners how both of those work, please?
MR. HERION: All right, I will be glad to,
MR. HUNTERTON: I have asked Sergeant Herion
to simulate on a sheet of water-soluble paper some
gambling records.
THE WITNESS: I wrote pretty big so you can

see it. A booxmaker would be sitting next to a table

or somewhere where his telephone is and would have a
bucket of water right next to him. And in case of an
entry being made, he puts it in the water and that's
§3~ what we got (demonstrating). 1It's gone in an instant.
;” So all the records are gone, and we have no case.

As far as telephone conversations, that is
inadmissible in court. We can't use those. Even

though we take $50,000 in bets, it doesn't do us any
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good.

MR. HUNTERTON: You mean after you do the
raid, 1f you stay there and work the bookies' phones
for him, the courts won't admit your testimony about
the action you took?

MR. HERION: Right.

MR. HUNTERTON: And the other precaution

g

that they take with respect to their recordkeeping?

MR. HERION: This is flash paper. This is
more dangerous than the water soluble (demonstrating).

MR. HUNTERTON: It never even hits the floor?

MR, HERION: It never did, did it? It was
close, though.

MR. HUNTERTOM: You cut it just as closc as
you could,

We have got time for about one more problem,
Sergeant Herion. Pick one that bothers you as an
enforcement officer working in this area.

MR. HERION: All right, 1It's the
availability of sports information, Anybody, the
police, bad guys, good guys, bettors, bookmakers, can
call California for 50 cents and get all the latest
sports information they need, point spreads, weather

conditions, which way the wind is blowing at Wrigley
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Field, the over and under action., 1It's available to
everybody for 50 cents, Years ago it was a federal
offense, but not any long=zr. There is also
publications.

(Tape played)

MR. HUNTERTON: What is that we just heard,
Sergeant Herion?

MR, HERION: This is the price on baseball
games, the pitchers, and the price. For instance, that
one game, I forgot the team, but it was, they said
$1.35. You must put up $1.35 on a favorite., If the
favorite loses the game, you pay $1.35. If you win,
you get a dollar.

MR. HUNTERTON: That was a recording?

MR. HERION: Right.

MR. HUNTERTON: Where did you get it from?

MR. HERION: That was just a phone number,
It is a 900 number, it goes to California.

MR. HUNTERTON: And it cost you 50 cents to
dial?

MR. HERION: That is all it costs,

MR. HUNTERTON: aAnd I would note, Mr.
Chairman, that it is not against the law even though --

where was that recording made?
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| MR. HERION:  You mean the source where it

came from?
! MR. HUNTERTON: No., Where did our staff
make the recording?
. MR. HERION: I believe they made it right
here.

MR. HUNTERTON: ALl right., And there is no
legal sports wagering on baseball in New York, is that
correct?

MR. HERION: That's correct.

MR. HUNTERTON: Sergeant Herion, we are
going to have to move along, but I understand that in

keeping with this morning's testimony you find the

problem of the video poker machines *o be one that is

also extant in Chicago. 1Is that correct?

MR. HERION: That's correct., We have about
5,000 machines, to my knowledge, maybe more. It sceems
; everybody is paying off on them. They are not gambling
devices per se, In order for us to make a legal arrest,
we have to be either paid off by the owner of the
establishment or observe someone else being paid off,.

Otherwise we are out of business. You can put $400 an

hour in those machines, and we don't have the time, the

resources, to handle this type of problem.
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MR. HUNTERTON: You have essentially the
same problems that Lieutenant Gaugler from the New
Jersey State Police described this morning?

MR, HERION: That is correct.

MR, HUNTERTON: Thank you very much,

Mr, vogel, tell us about the Balistrieri
case.,

MR. VOGEL: All right, Mr. Chairman,
distinguished Commissioners:

One of the geographic areas covered by the
Chicago Strike Force is Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and in
Milwaukee illegal activity there is dominated by the
Balistrieri organized crime group, That is the La Cosa
Nostra group presently headed by mob boss Frank Balistrieri,

Over a period of many years, the Milwaukee
division of the FBI gathered intelligence information
and developed confidential sources of information
inside the Balistrieri organization. This information
was the genesis of a series of significant
investigations concerning such diverse criminal
enterprises as sports bookmaking, hidden control of
certalin vending machine businesses, extortion,
obstruction of justice, and contract murder. These

investigations resulted in the convictions of Frank P,
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Balistrieri, age 66, who was the boss; Steve DiSalvo,
age 65, his underboss; his two sons Joseph and John
Balistrieri and a number of other members of this
criminal organization.

With respect to the gambling activities of
this criminal organization, which I know the Commission
is most interested in hearing about, the Government's
investigation produced a variety of types of evidence
demonstrating that Balistrieri and nis cohorts ran a
sports bookmaking business during the late seventies
and in 1980. This evidence was obtained oy means of
physical surveillance, electronic surveillance, warrant-
authorized e.urches and the investigative efforts of
two undercover FBI agents. Unlike Sergeant Herion, the
federal government can and does make use of court-
authorized wiretaps.

In late 1977, the governmont conducted
court-authorized electronic surveillance of telephones
at two sports bookmaking locations in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin., On four successive days during that period,
the government intercepted a large number of telephone
calls that related to gambling on college and
professional football games. Other evidence indicated

that this sports bookmaking operation was owned and
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headed by Frank Balistrieri and supervised by Steve
cisalvo. The operation was run on a day-to-day basis
by Salvatore Librizzi, who supervised at least six
writers or agents, as is set forth in the
organizational chart which I would like to run through
with you now,

This chart was introduced and utilized at
Frank Balistrieri's gambling trial, and I might add
that the names listed on that chart are only of those
people that the government had proof beyond a
reasonable doubt as to their roles and their
involvement. The evidence did suggest, however, that
there was a large number of other participants involved
in the operation.

Now, looking from the bottom, you can see
that there are the writers, which you have already
heard about, who take the strect action from customers
and in turn relay that into the manager, here Salvatore
Librizzi. Usually they use the phone to do that. Mr,
Librizzi instructed writers as to when and which games
they should take bets on. He also totaled up the win-letss
figures and settled up the accounts,

From time to time, when Mr. Librizzi

determined that the wagering action on a particular
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sporting contest was too heavy on one side, he would
place layoff wages through a "beard" or an up-front and
that was Mr, Richard Panella. The Balistrieri
organization used Mr. Panella as a ruse to place these
wagers with other illegal bookmaking operations, and
through them they were able to disquise their layoff on
bets and obtain a hetting advantage. Mr., Librizzi in
turn reported to Steve DiSalvo and, less frequently, to
Frank Balistrieri. Mr, Librizzi and nis brother Dennis
Librizzi also personally delivered gambling proceeds,
the money, to Steve DiSalvo. Steve DiSalvo in turn
conveyed the money to Frank Balistrieri.

You are going to hear a tape recording in a
few moments of one of the conversations in which
Salvatore Librizzi is reporting to Frank Balistrieri.

In 1977 the operation grossed an average of
approximately $10,000 a day, with a single day's gross
as high as $12,000. In August 1978 a completely
separate FBI undercover operation code named “"Timbre"
was begun with respect to the Mob's involvement in the
vending machine business in Milwaukee, Wisconsin,
During this operation, undercover FBI agents became
trusted confidants and associates of Frank Balistrieri

and Steve DiSalvo, Thus, they were allowed to be
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present during discussions of past and future gambling
operations. Indeed, Frank Balistrieri and Steve
DiSalvo talked freely with the agents of their
bookmaking operations, including their control of
sports bookmaking in general in the Milwaukee area.
They also discussed the problems they were having with
the operation and in one such conversation Frank
Balistrieri expressed dissatisfaction with Salvatore
Librizzi and he also expressed his desire to have
someone to run the operation who ¢ould be trusted.

Ironically, one L2njamin Ruggiero, who is a
member of the New York Bonanno crime family,
recommended one of the FBI undercover agents as the man
who could take over the bookmaking operation for
Balistrieri,

In October 1979, a separate wiretap
investigation code-named "Bellwether" was bagun at
three locations in Milwaukee including John
Balistrieri's office, John Balistrieri being Frank
Balistrieri's son. These court-ordered intercepts
produced conversations relating to the same sport
bookmaking operation but involved 1979 and 1980
football and basketball seasons, The Bellwether

investigation was expanded to include coverage on
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telephones at two other locations utilized by Salvatore
Librizzi. Incidentally, one of these locations was the
same house from which the 1977 bookmaking operation had
been run. Intercepted conversations from this
investigation further developed evidence of Frank
Balictrieri's involvement in and control of the sports
bookmaking in Milwaukee and his operation again
included Steve DiSalvo, Salvatore and Dennis Librizzi
and at least eight other writers or agents.

On January 10, 1980, an extremely important
conversation was intercepted in this investigation
between Frank Balistrieri and Salvatore Librizzi, This
is the conversation I referred to earlier, 1In this
conversation, Librizzi was overheard delivering a large
sum of money to Balistrieri. As the conversation
progressed, they discussed collections from writers and
bettors, past and future football game acticn, and then
began to discuss the upcoming basketball season,
Librizzi asked Balistrierl to allow a four-way
partnership in the basketball bookmaking operation,
with Balistrieri the boss, Peter Picciurro, whose name
you see up on the chart, who would be the partner who
would bankroll the operation, and with Librizzi and nis

brother Dennis actually running the operation on a

167




T TS i Bty o Loy e

tlay-to-day basis, Balistrieri gave his OK but
expressed concern that they might get caught because
basketball betting action occurs on a daily basis.
Librizzi stated that he would rent an office and that
they shouldn't worry.

Now, as you heard from Sergeant Herion, from
time to time operations such as this make use of
cordless remote telephones, and you are going to hear
some discussion on this tape recording about that as
well.,

I might just add, before the tape is played
for you, Mr., Chairman, that this tape is a microphone
interception from a concealed microphone. Consequently,
the audibility of the tape recording is not as good as
we would like. But I think if you utilize your
headphones you will be able to hear what is being said
for the most part.

MR. HUNTERTON: Mr, Chairman and members of
the Commission, as we cue that tape, I would also note
that the verbatim transcript is i. your briefing book
immediately following Mr. Vogel's statement, You will
find that of substantial assistance as you listen to
this tape. Play the tape, please.

(Tape played)
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MR. VOGEL: Mr. Chairman, I understand time
is running short, so I am going to abbreviate my
statement. Suffice it to say, Frank Balistrieri, Steve
Disalvo and some of his cohorts were prosecuted in a
gambling case in Milwaukee which %took six weeks to try,
and they were convicted. Frank Balistrieri was again prosecuted
in an extortion Hobbs Act conspiracy trial which also
involved his two sons as defendants and he was also
convicted in that trial. Based upon the government's
motion that Frank Balistrieri was a danger to the
community, Judge Terrence T, Evans revoked his bond and
ordered him immediately incarcerated. Thereafter, the
Judge sentenced him to thirteen years in prison., The
sentences on the gambling case were four years each on
counts 1, 2 and 3 and one year each on counts 5 and 7
to run woncurrently with $30,000 in fines and the costs
of prosecutionr,

Steve DiSalvo, who was a defendant only in
the gambling case, huwever, was sentenced by Judge
Evans to two consecutive four-year terms, and on the
government's motion Judge Evans orde.ed DiSalvo
immediately incarcerated as a danger to the community.

Salvatore Librizzi who ran the day-to-day

gambling operation had no other apparent organized
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crime involvement with the Milwaukee "Qutfit" and
therefore received only a one-year and a day sentence,
a §15,000 fine and three years' probation, Librizzi
received a somewhat light sentence even though he
continued to accept wagers after his conviection and
indeed was accepting action the day the jury returned
its guilty verdicts, However, Librizzi was ordered to
surrender and begin immediate service of his sentence.

The substantial sentences imposed upon Frank
Balistrieri and Steve DiSalvo resulted, at least in
part, from Judge Evans' reliance upon many of the
electronic surveillance tape recordings. I believe
that segments of these tape recordings may be played
for you later in thsse hearings.

I thank you for giving us this opportunity
and it concludes my statement, 1 will, of course, be
glad to answer any questions that I can.

MR. HUNTERTON: Before we turn to Miss
Dobkin, your Honor, 1 would like to note for the record
that Frank Balistrieri has been the boss of the LCN
family in Milwaukee since the early 1960s. He has
ruled that family with the advice and assistance of his

two sons whom he had the foresight to send to law school.

This family has peen closely
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aligned with the Chicago LCN family for many yeatrs.

In addition to the normal full range of LCN
activity known to most families, that association has
bred a tight connection between those two families in
cfforts to infiltrate Las Vegas casinos. For this, Mr.
Balistrieri and his counterpart in Chicago, Mr. Aiuppa,
will stand trial this September in a major casino
skimming case, For that reason we were not prepared to
give Mr. Balistrieri immunity. He indicated in a
letter that he would assert a Fifth Amendment privilege
and therefore we have waived his appearance here today.

Miss Dobkin, as the apparent world record
holder for sentencing in a gambling case, would you
tell us briefly how that came about in the case of the
United States v. DivVarco, and along the way explain
some of that telephone charting that looks like the
circuitry to a missile system.

MS. DOBKIN: GSurely., Good afterncon, ladies
and gentlemen,

Joseph "Caesar" Divarco -- he is ratherx
short and they call him Caesar -- is a top lieutenant
of the Chicago LCN and as such is the organized crime
street boss of the Rush Street area., Rush Street is

Chicago's nightclub district. He was indicted in 1984
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for operating an illegal gambling business, along with
six other people and was convicted with all defendants
save one in January of this year after a six-week trial.
In fact, his date of conviction was January 9, and on
January 10 the first of the three gambling-related
murders in Chicago began. Lenny Yaras was killed the
day after DiVarco's conviction, This case evolved from
a long-term investigation into racetrack messenger
services which were ultimately held to be illegal in
Chicago, but what that produced was an infrastructure
already on site to begin doing sports bookmaking, which
the Chicago mob had let up on for a while when they'
discovered off-track betting.

It was the theory of our case that the
sports bookmaking operation was conducted in a classic
business sense with Joseph DiVarco and Jasper Campise,
the man who wound up in a trunk, as the bosses of the
operation and Victor Locallo as the everyday
comptrolier,

In chart No. 23 we have charted out for you
this particular gambling operation. [Locallo had died
before the indictment came down, so he was obviously an
unindicted conspirator,

The business had two main segments which
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were operated by Santo LaMantia and Marshall Portnoy.
As it expanded, different people were given more
responsibility, and then they utilized several
independent bookies who would sit at home and handle
the operation of the business as well as their own
little bettors. They operated out of their own
apartments and apartments of friends. .

The actual involvement of the IRS in the
divarco prosecution had its genesis in raid reports
from the Chicago Police Department's Vice Control
Division. Sergeant Herion's men were exceedingly
helpful to us, and the work they did laid the
groundwork for our own case. After Portnoy and Santo
had been arrested several times by the Chicago police,
the IRS started surveilling them. This surveillance
led to the discovery of Portnoy's weekly Monday evening
meetings at Divarvo's home., He was indeed surveilled
going there approximately 52 times during the
investigation. He would walk in with a ledger book and
with envelopes and with small bags.

The IRS then used phone record subpoenas and
ultimately pen registers in order to analyze particular
telephone traffic of places we thought were involved.

As the charts in front of you demonstrate --

173

vk S



{
i

o e bt e AN o P i L

I believe they are 25 and 26 -- they show that this
operation utilized call-~forwarding, which in a sense is
like an artichoke. You keep peeling layers and you
find that where the calls were forwarded to, were sent,
were changed, and they were sent somewhere else by the
time you discovered where they were originally sent.
They made tens of thousands of phone calls. And as you
can see, they directed calls to two locations,
basically over 10,000 calls, to apartments of friends.
And in Armitage, they went to one location and across
the street to another location on Armitage. And I
believe there are about six or seven thousand calls
there,

Of equal value in this operatien was the
evidence that was seized durinc the execution of
several state search warrants. Some of the warrants
were litigated during the course of this trial and
upheld by the federal judge who supervised this case.
That was Judge Milton Shadur in Chicago. We found this
of particular interest, because some of those same
warrants were thrown out or otherwise disposed of by
the local Chicago court system. It was telling to note
that in majority of those cases Dean Wolfson, who

trecently pled quilty during our Greylord investigation
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involving judicial and attorney corruption, was a
defense attorney for many of the people involved in the
local state searches,

A key item of evidence linking Joseph
Divarco to the conspiracy was the fact that he had
weekly, we call them, Thursday morning, breakfast
meetings with unindicted coconspirators Jasper Campise
and Victor Locallo, He also met with Vincent Solano,
who I believe you heard about during the labor
racketeering hearings. G&olano is president of Local
No. 1 of the Laborers International Union. At
DivVarco's sentencing, witness Ken Eto testified that
Sclano was his "boss," These meetings were surveilled
by two very diligent and innovative CID special agents,
dressed in soda pop truck driver uniforwms, and they sat
next to these men for almost a year and a half and
eavesdropped., They would write down what they were
hearing.

another item of critical importance was the
evidence seized from Joseph DiVarco's house and a
safety deposit box. Seized from his house -- I believe
it is No. 29 on the charts -- on the upper left you
have $35,000 seized from a heating vent in the master

bedroom. The cash was found wrapped in a newspaper
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dated ten days before the seizure, Found in the
rafters of his house, which is Chart No. 30 over there,
was a pouch which contained a key to a safety deposit
box. Found along with the key were slips of paper that
had various amounts of money on them and various
notations such as "vince S." The total amount on those
notes was close to the $150,000 which was ultimately
found in the safety deposit box. It was our theory
that all of the money was part of the ban¥%uil of the
business and the "Vince S." referred to Vince Solano,
who Divarco lists under V. as "Vince S." in his
personal phone books.

The case agent in this case estimated that
the annual handle was approximately $10 million.

The sentencing hearing was rather
interesting, but befor: we get into that, Ken Eto,
again a protected witness, who testified extensively at
the sentencing hearing, also testified in a very
limited faswhion at trial. He noted that DiVarco had

told him shortly aEter the IRS raid of his safety

deposit box that the government had seized his "bankroll,"

And that was the $151,000.
after the conviction the Judge found that

Divarco was indeed a danger to the community and
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ordered him held pending sentencing.

Following an extensive sentencing hearing,
Judge Shadur sentenced DiVarco to ten years
incarceration as well as to a $60,000 fine and ordered
nim to pay the costs of prosecution., Four other
defmndants who were also found guilty were given less
severe soentences.

At the sentencing nearing, Bto testified
about nis life of crime in Chicayo, and his contact
over se;eral yaars with DiVarco and dolano. He
testified about his gambling activities at a certain
wrivate club operated by Divarco and DiVarco's parvtner
Solano which was called "Qldsters for Youmjsters."
Thare was a game there called siganet, It was a card
game and Eto won over $100,000 during the time he was
gamoling there. Solano dimendad his and of the
winnings, and Eto paid him half of everything he won
through Divarco. Also, with Divarco and Solano's
permission, Eto ran & sports bookmaking operation, anrd
he paid a $2,000 z month street tax to Solano through
Divarco.

At the nearing BEto identified 2 unique photo
which was seized from DiVarco's premises. That is, I

believe it -- it seoms to nave disappeared. It was No.
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35. We have referred to it as the Last Supper picture,
bocause it shows almost everybody involved in organized
crime in Chicago. Indeed, there is an organized crime
chart in No., 36, and almost everyone on that chart is
in this picture, whicih was taken from Mr. DiVarco's
house. Eto identified Dominic DiBella, who is the man
second from the left who is a boss of his who died, and
tten Solano, who is right to the right in the picture,
took over as Eto's boss. He also identified averybody
else in the picture, some of whom he has worked for and
who has worked for nim., Divarco is in the rignt with
the black shirt in the picture.

At sentencing, certain Jdefense attorneys
successfully argued that all we had was a gamnbling case.
rhe Court, in a reference to Al Capone, said that
people get sentenced not for the particular crime they
comnit, put for what is known about them in other
situations, and that it was always important to
recognize that different defendants get different
treatment because of different circumstances. Judge
Shadur ciharacterized gambling violations as a peculiar
crime and noted that gambling was a rather odd offense
in the criminal law system, somewhat like Prohibition,

in that while prohibiting activities which many people
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may not consider bad, it is the sort of thing that
tends to feed the possibility that the activity may be
taken over by organized crime.

In sentencing Divarco, the Court made
saveral telling, significant statements. Noting that
society has a two-faced ambivalent attitude toward
gambling, he stated tnat Congress has decid2d that
gambling activity of a certain kind should Le
prosecuted and that what was important for the purposes
of the DivVarco sentencing was that the illegality of
the gambling business has in fact gencrated just such
involvement of organized crime figures. The Court told
Divarco that there was little Joubt as to what result
sentencing him ought to produce and that law
enforcement officials don't usually get people who are
in the middle management or upper management level of
organized crime activity.

Stating that Eto's testimony implicated
Divarco in a deliberate assassination attempt, the
Court found that the conversations amoag Divarco,
Campise and Solano and others reflected illegal
activities and showed DivVarco to be a fiyure of
significance not only in gambling violations but with

things with much more serious connections and
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implications. what the Judge meant by that was
basically a reference to the Thursday morning breakfast
meetings where this group would sit and talk about all
their illegal activities. AaAng not only did they
discuss their loansharking and their gambling; they
were discussing what is basically an obstruction of tne
grand jury process, because they were talking about
paying attorneys for the people whom we had subpoenaed
during this investigation; that the lawyers' fees were
costing them too wmuch so they are just goiny to have to
tell them not to talk. And in splitting up the money,
they talked about putting in money for somebody who was
already incarcerated for a failure to testify before
the grand jury and 3olano said, put in the money for
him, we are all partners.

In sum, investigating this case, bringing it
to trial, required a very substantial commitment of
pProsecutive and investigative resources. The IRS
agents acted as human wiretaps, human tape-recorders
and human cameras in order to garner avidence., The
case is an example of the rosults law enforcement can
achieve in investigating organized crime involved in
gambling operations when it is well coordinated andg

everybody is working with each other.
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Although the prevailing Sttitude is, "It's
only a gambliny case," and indeed Ken Eto testified
that he told Solano not to worry about his recent
conviction as "It's only a gambling pinch," organized
illegal gambling is, at least in Chicago, not an
innocent occupation.

Thank you.

MR. HUNTERTOW: Thank you, Miss Dobkin.

Mr. Chairman, all three witnesses are

TR

availablc to the Commission for questions,

CHAIRMAN KAUFMAN: I have none.
COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Miss Dobkin has

mentioned the use of the funds from gambling to corrupt

the official judicial processes. I would like the two
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gentlemen to comment on whether they have seen the use

| of gambling moneys in the illegal gambling field used

to corrupt the processes in their city, judicial

processes, political process, etc.

MR. HERION: I have not.

COMMISSICHER ROWAN: You have not.

MR. HERION: No.

MR. VOGEL: There was no avidence of that
sort of activity with respect to the Balistrieri

investigations, There was an indication of large
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amounts of money being obtained by his operation and
there was an indication that that money was used for a
variety of other unlawful activities, but that wasn't
one of them,
COMMISSIONER ROWAN: Thank you,
COMMISSIONER McBRIDE: Would you describe
for me the status of the wiretap and cavesdrop law,
federal, versus State of Illinois, either one of you.
MS., DOBXIN: There is none in Illinois,
COMMISSIONER McBRIDE: It is prohibited?
MR. VOGEL: 1Illinois by statute prohibits
not only electronic surveillance, that is, the
surreptitious eavesdropping on a conversation where
none of the participants know they are being wiretapped;
they also prohibit consensual monitering, that is,
where one of the persons would consent to wearing a
body recorder or to making a telephone call that would
be tape-recorded, except for certain limited
circumstances in which 1 believe under Illinois law you
can approach a judge and get what would be the
equivalent of a very narrowly drawn search warrant for
that activity. Federally now, once you have probable
cause and you meet a number of conditions under the

Title III of the -~ well, the federal wiretap statute,
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